
The City of La Pine is and Equal Opportunity Provider 

CITY OF LA PINE, OREGON 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

Wednesday, May 21, 2025, at 5:30 PM 
La Pine City Hall: 16345 Sixth Street, La Pine, Oregon 97739 

Online access via Zoom: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81554912590 

The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the 
hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at least 48 
hours before the meeting to City Hall at (541-536-1432). For deaf, hearing impaired, or speech disabled 
dial 541-536-1432 for TTY. 

AGENDA
CALL TO ORDER 

ESTABLISH QUORUM 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ADDED AGENDA ITEMS 

Any matters added at this time will be discussed during the “Other Matter” portion of this agenda. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

1. 05.07.2025 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes ................................................................. 3. 
a. Public Comment – J. Koch .............................................................................................. 7. 

PUBLIC HEARING 

1. CPA-25-0001
a. Open Public Hearing
b. Application Documents

i. Exhibit A. Comprehensive Plan Findings ............................................................ 8. 
ii. Exhibit B. Final La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan  ........................................... 23. 

c. Public Testimony
d. Close Hearing

2. CPA-25-0002
a. Open Public Hearing
b. Application Documents

i. Exhibit B. Final La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan Map .................................... 101. 
c. Public Testimony
d. Close Hearing

OLD BUSINESS 

1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81554912590


PLANNING COMMISSION - AGENDA MAY 21, 2025 

The City of La Pine is an Equal Opportunity Provider 

None 

NEW BUSINESS 

1. Long Range Planning Update
2. Current Planning Update

OTHER MATTERS 

Only Items that were previously added above in the Added Agenda Items will be discussed. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Public Comments provide an opportunity for members of the community to submit input on ongoing 
matters within the city. 

Public Comments are limited to three (3) minutes per person; when asked to the podium, please state 
your name and address. This helps the Planning Commission and staff determine if you are a city 
resident. The acting chair may elect to respond to comments if the matter is within the jurisdiction of 
the city or defer to city staff for response. Any matter that warrants testimony and rebuttal may be 
debated only during a Public Hearing on the matter. 

STAFF AND COMMITTEE COMMENTS 

ADJOURN 

Pursuant to ORS 192.640: This notice includes a list of the principal subjects anticipated to be considered 
or discussed at the above-referenced meeting.  This notice does not limit the ability of the Planning 
Commission. 

2



The City of La Pine is and Equal Opportunity Provider 

CITY OF LA PINE, OREGON 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

Wednesday, May 7, 2025, at 5:30 PM 
La Pine City Hall: 16345 Sixth Street, La Pine, Oregon 97739 

Online access via Zoom: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89873760589 

MINUTES
CALL TO ORDER 

Chair Myers called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 

ESTABLISH QUORUM 

Commission 

Chair Myers 

Vice Chair Poteet – Absent  

Commissioner Hatfield 

Commissioner Bauman 

Commissioner Accinelli 

Staff 

Brent Bybee – Community Development Director  

Nick Tierney – Associate Planner 

Amanda Metcalf – City Recorder 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioner Accinelli led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

ADDED AGENDA ITEMS 

There were no added agenda items. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

1. 04.16.2025 Planning Commission Meeting Minutes
2. Public Comment Form M. Mills

Commissioner Accinelli made a motion to approve the consent agenda. Commissioner Hatfield 
seconded the motion. Motion passed unanimously. 

PUBLIC HEARING 

None 

3

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89873760589


PLANNING COMMISSION - MINUTES MAY 7, 2025 

The City of La Pine is an Equal Opportunity Provider 

OLD BUSINESS 

None 

NEW BUSINESS 

1. Review of Public Hearing Procedures

Community Development Director Bybee explained that the next Planning Commission Meeting would 
include the Public Hearing for the comprehensive plan update. He stated that reviewing public hearing 
procedures with the Commission would help prepare for the upcoming meeting. 

Vice Chair Poteet arrived at the meeting at 5:34 p.m. 

He presented a handout of public hearing procedures to the Commission. 

At the request of the Commission, Director Bybee explained the background of the comprehensive 
plan update for the attending community members. 

He reviewed the steps and specific verbiage required by the City’s land use code that the Commission 
would need to use during a public hearing. 

There were no questions from the Commission regarding the public hearing procedures. 

Director Bybee explained the process for making a motion during a meeting. 

There were no questions from the Commission. 

2. Long Range Planning Update

Director Bybee stated that staff is excited for the upcoming completion of the comprehensive plan 
update. 

He explained that the next project staff would be working on involved establishing an identity for La 
Pine. This project would include public outreach and efforts to gather as much community feedback as 
possible. He expressed hope for reaching a consensus and determining the community’s overall goals. 

The scope of work with the Oregon Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) and 
Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) for the Transportation System Plan (TSP) update had 
been finalized. It was approved by the Transportation and Growth Management (TGM) central team, 
and the City was in the solicitation process for selecting a consultant. The selection had been narrowed 
down to three consultants, and he anticipated providing further updates in the coming months. 

He reported that he had spoken with CPAW, which was currently on hold due to a pause in federal 
funding. However, he noted that there was sufficient private funding to continue the CPAW evaluation 
for La Pine. 

In response to a question regarding the houseless population affected by the recent China Hat 
evacuation, Director Bybee explained that the City could not monitor federal land. However, Public 
Works had installed barricades to restrict access to BLM land from City roads. The land remained 
accessible through alternative routes. 

3. Current Planning Update

4



PLANNING COMMISSION - MINUTES MAY 7, 2025 

The City of La Pine is an Equal Opportunity Provider 

Associate Planner Tierney provided an update on current planning applications. This included six 
residential zoning permits for single-family homes, three pending sign permits, and one mobile food 
unit. 

Director Bybee stated that the Type II applications included two incomplete applications and two that 
were under completeness review. Additionally, there was one application for a spec project that had 
been deemed complete. 

For the Type III applications, he reported that a subdivision previously approved at a public hearing had 
passed its appeal period. No appeals were received, and the application was granted final approval. 

Lastly, he noted that the Type IV application involved a text amendment aimed at allowing RV parks to 
connect to local streets. Currently, La Pine’s City code requires RV parks to connect only to arterial 
streets. 

OTHER MATTERS 

There were no other matters. 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Jerry Koch, resident of Ponderosa Pines, introduced himself to the Planning Commission as a new 
resident of La Pine. He explained his political background as the Mayor of Dundee and his background 
on their Planning Commission. 

STAFF AND COMMITTEE COMMENTS 

Community Development Director Bybee did not have any comments. 

Associate Planner Tierney did not have any comments. 

City Recorder Metcalf did not have any comments. 

Commissioner Hatfield did not have any comments. 

Commissioner Bauman did not have any comments. 

Commissioner Accinelli did not have any comments. 

Vice Chair Poteet did not have any comments. 

Chair Myers did not have any comments. 

Vice Chair Poteet made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Bauman seconded the motion. 
Chair Myers asked for a roll call vote: 

Commissioner Accinelli – Aye  

Commissioner Hatfield – Aye 

Commissioner Vice Chair – Aye 

Vice Chair Bauman – Aye 

Chair Myers – Aye 

Motion passed unanimously. 

5



PLANNING COMMISSION - MINUTES MAY 7, 2025 

The City of La Pine is an Equal Opportunity Provider 

ADJOURN 

Chair Myers Adjourned the meeting at 6:20 p.m. 

Pursuant to ORS 192.640: This notice includes a list of the principal subjects anticipated to be considered 
or discussed at the above-referenced meeting.  This notice does not limit the ability of the Planning 
Commission. 

________________________________Date:____________ 
Teri Myers, Chair 

ATTEST: 

________________________________Date:____________ 
Amanda Metcalf, City Recorder 

6



7



16345 6th St, La Pine, OR 97739 | P.O. Box 2460, La Pine, OR 97739 
Phone: (541) 536-1432 | Email: info@lapineoregon.gov | Website: www.lapineoregon.gov 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT 
FINDINGS FOR COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ADOPTION 

FILE NUMBER: CPA-25-0001 (Comprehensive Plan) & CPA-25-0002 (Comprehensive Plan Map) 

APPLICANT:  City of La Pine  
Community Development Department 

REQUEST: La Pine 2045 - Comprehensive Plan Update (Ordinance 2025-01) 
& Comprehensive Plan Map Amendment (Ordinance 2025-02) 

STAFF CONTACT: Brent Bybee, Community Development Director 
Email: bbybee@lapineoregon.gov  
Phone: (541) 668-1135 

I. APPLICABLE STANDARDS, PROCEDURES, AND CRITERIA

PART III, CITY OF LA PINE DEVELOPMENT CODE

ARTICLE 7 - PROCEDURES 
CHAPTER 15.202. - SUMMARY OF APPLICATION TYPES AND GENERAL PROVISIONS 

ARTICLE 8 - APPLICATIONS AND REVIEWS 
CHAPTER 15.304. - LOT OF RECORD AND LOT OF RECORD DETERMINATION 

II. FINDINGS OF FACT

PART III, CITY OF LA PINE DEVELOPMENT CODE

ARTICLE 7 - PROCEDURES 

CHAPTER 15.204. - APPLICATION PROCEDURES 

Sec. 15.204.040. - Type IV (legislative decisions). 

A. Timing of requests. The city council may establish a schedule for when it will accept legislative
code amendment or plan amendment requests, or the city council may initiate its own legislative
proposals at any time. Legislative requests are not subject to the 120-day review period under ORS
227.178.

FINDING: The current request was initiated by the city, and is not subject to the 120-day review period under ORS 
227.178. Criteria met.  

B. Application requirements.

        CITY OF LA PINE

DRAFT
Exhibit A

8

mailto:info@lapineoregon.gov


CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

1. Application forms. Legislative applications shall be made on forms provided by the city
planning official.

2. Submittal information. The application shall contain all of the following information:

a. The information requested on the application form;

b. A map and/or plan addressing the appropriate criteria and standards in sufficient detail
for review and decision (as applicable);

c. The required fee, except when City of La Pine initiates request;

d. One copy of a letter or narrative statement that explains how the application satisfies
each and all of the relevant approval criteria and standards; and

e. Evidence of neighborhood contact, if applicable pursuant to section 15.202.050.

FINDING: The applicable form was filled out by the city and submitted for the proposal. All information requested 
on the application form was provided. The request involves amending the Comprehensive  Plan, which is not 
applicable towards specific criteria or standards within the development code. The request was initiated by the 
City of La Pine, therefore a fee is not required. This staff report and attached exhibits serve as the narrative 
statement demonstrating compliance with the approval criteria. A neighborhood contact meeting is not required 
in accordance with LPDC Sec. 15.202.050. Criteria met.  

C. Procedure. Hearings on Type IV applications are conducted similar to city council hearings on other
legislative proposals, except the notification procedure for Type IV applications must conform to
state land use laws (ORS 227.175), as follows:

1. The city planning official shall notify in writing the Oregon Department of Land Conservation
and Development (DLCD) of legislative amendments (zone change, rezoning with annexation,
or comprehensive plan amendment) at least 35 days before the first public hearing at which
public testimony or new evidence will be received. The notice shall include a DLCD certificate
of mailing.

2. At least 20 days, but not more than 40 days, before the date of the first hearing on an
ordinance that proposes to amend the comprehensive plan or any element thereof, or to
adopt an ordinance for any zone change, a notice shall be prepared in conformance with ORS
227.175 and mailed to:

a. Each owner whose property would be directly affected by the proposal (e.g., rezoning or a
change from one comprehensive plan land use designation to another); see ORS 227.186
for instructions;

b. Any affected governmental agency;

c. Any person who requests notice in writing; and

d. For a zone change affecting a manufactured home or mobile home park, all mailing
addresses within the park, in accordance with ORS 227.175.

DRAFT
Exhibit A

9

https://library.municode.com/or/la_pine/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIIICILAPIDECO_ART7PR_CH15.202SUAPTYGEPR_S15.202.050NECO


CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

3. At least ten days before the scheduled city council public hearing date, public notice shall be
published in a newspaper of general circulation in the city.

4. For each mailing and publication of notice, the city planning official shall keep an affidavit of
mailing/publication in the record.

FINDING: The above criteria address additional notice requirements for proposals in accordance with ORS 
227.175. Notice was provided to DLCD on April 16, 2025, which is 35 days before the initial hearing on May 21, 
2025. Subsection 2 above addresses the noticing requirements to those affected by the amendments. Since the 
proposal is for a comprehensive plan amendment, and the proposal does not involve a rezoning or change in land 
use designation as defined in ORS 227.186, notice is not required in accordance with subsection 2(a) above, since 
properties will not be directly affected by the proposal. Any subsequent code updates or zone changes will 
incorporate those noticing standards for compliance with ORS 227.186. Notice is being provided to those listed 
within subsection b, c, and d above, concurrently with the notice to DLCD on April 16, 2025. A newspaper notice is 
scheduled to be published in the Bend Bulletin on May 11, 2025, 10-days prior to the initial hearing. An affidavit of 
mailing/publication will be kept in the record. Criteria met.  

D. Final decision and effective date. A Type IV decision, if approved, shall take effect and shall
become final as specified in the enacting ordinance or, if not approved, upon mailing of the notice
of decision to the applicant. Notice of a Type IV decision shall be mailed to the applicant, all
participants of record, and the department of land conservation and development within 20
business days after the city council decision is filed with the city planning official. The city shall also
provide notice to all persons as required by other applicable laws.

FINDING: Once a final decision has been rendered by the City Council, notice shall be mailed to the applicant, 
participants of record, and DLCD within 20 days. Notice shall also be provided to all other persons as required by 
other applicable laws.  

ARTICLE 8 - APPLICATIONS AND REVIEWS 

CHAPTER 15.334. - TEXT AND MAP AMENDMENTS 

Sec. 15.334.010. - Purpose. 

The purpose of this chapter is to provide standards and procedures for legislative amendments to the 
comprehensive plan and map and to this Development Code and zoning map. Amendments may be 
necessary from time to time to reflect changing community conditions, to correct mistakes, or to 
address changes in the law. 

Sec. 15.334.020. - Applicability. 

A. Legislative amendments generally involve broad public policy decisions that apply to other than an
individual property owner. These include, without limitation, amendments to the text of the
comprehensive plans, Development Code, or changes in zoning maps not directed at a small
number of property owners. The following amendments are considered generally considered
legislative:

1. All text amendments to Development Code or comprehensive plan (except for corrections).

DRAFT
Exhibit A

10



CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

2. Amendments to the comprehensive plan map and/or zoning map that affect more than a
limited group of property owners.

B. Amendments to the comprehensive plan and/or zoning map (zone change) that do not meet the
criteria under subsection A may be processed as quasi-judicial amendments. However, the
distinction between legislative and quasi-judicial changes must ultimately be made on a case-by-
case basis with reference to case law on the subject.

C. Requests for text and map amendments may be initiated by an applicant, the planning
commission, or the city council. The city planning official may request the planning commission to
initiate an amendment. Initiations by a review body are made without prejudice towards the
outcome.

FINDING: The proposal is for a comprehensive plan text amendment and comprehensive plan map amendment, 
which is generally considered legislative as specified above, and is being reviewed in accordance with the Type IV 
Legislative procedures addressed herein. At the direction of City Council and the Planning Commission, the 
planning official initiated the request. Criteria met.  

Sec. 15.334.030. - Procedure type. 

A. Legislative amendments are subject to Type IV review in accordance with the procedures in article
7.

B. Quasi-judicial amendments are subject to Type III review in accordance with the procedures
in article 7, except that quasi-judicial comprehensive plan amendments and zone changes which
must be adopted by the city council before becoming effective.

FINDING: The proposal involves a legislative amendment that is subject to Type IV review, and is being reviewed 
in accordance with the procedures outlined in article 7 and addressed herein. Criteria met.  

Sec. 15.334.040. - Approval criteria. 

Planning commission review and recommendation, and city council approval, of an ordinance 
amending the zoning map, Development Code, or comprehensive plan shall be based on all of the 
following criteria: 

A. The proposal must be consistent with the comprehensive plan (the comprehensive plan may be
amended concurrently with proposed changes in zoning). If the proposal involves an amendment
to the comprehensive plan, the amendment must be consistent with the statewide planning goals
and relevant Oregon Administrative Rules; and

FINDING: There are a total of nineteen statewide planning goals identified in Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 
under Chapter 660, Division 18. Of these goals, twelve are applicable to La Pine, which include: Citizen 
Involvement (Goal 1), Land Use Planning (Goal 2), Natural Resources (Goal 5), Air, Water & Land Resource Quality 
(Goal 6), Natural Hazards (Goal 7), Recreational Needs (Goal 8), Economic Development (Goal 9), Housing (10), 
Public Facilities & Services (Goal 11), Transportation (12), Energy Conservation (13), and Urbanization (14).  

• Goal 1: Citizen Involvement
To develop a citizen involvement program that ensures the opportunity for citizens to be involved in all
phases of the planning process.

DRAFT
Exhibit A

11

https://library.municode.com/or/la_pine/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIIICILAPIDECO_ART7PR
https://library.municode.com/or/la_pine/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIIICILAPIDECO_ART7PR
https://library.municode.com/or/la_pine/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIIICILAPIDECO_ART7PR


CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

Response: Over the course of nearly two years, City staff and the consultant led outreach and engagement 
efforts to better understand the community’s vision and priorities related to La Pine’s future. The La Pine 
2045 Visioning process reached community members through Community Conversations, community events, 
online surveys, and the La Pine 2045 webpage.  

The application is being reviewed through a Type IV process that requires public hearings. A legal notice was 
published in the Bend Bulletin and a notice of the proposal was sent to the Department of Land Conservation 
and Development (DLCD). The Planning Commission will review the application at a public hearing on May 21, 
2025, and make a recommendation to the City Council who will hold a subsequent hearing. 

Because the public had the opportunity to review and comment on the application, the proposal and process 
the City took meets the requirements of Goal 1. 

• Goal 2: Land Use
To establish a land use planning process and policy framework as a basis for all decisions and actions related
to the use of land and to assure an adequate factual base for such decisions and actions.

Response: La Pine’s policies addressing Statewide Planning Goal 2 are outlined in the Land Use section of the
2045 Comprehensive Plan. These policies provide a clear framework for maintaining an up-to-date, inclusive,
and coordinated land use planning process based on factual data and responsive to community values and
regulatory requirements.

Through the course of review of the update and amendments to the Comprehensive Plan, input was received
input from: local, state, and federal agencies, City staff, the La Pine City Council & Planning Commission, State
legislators, developers, stakeholders, and residents of the community.

The City Council has determined adequate factual and policy basis exists to support the proposed
amendments. The amendments will better implement policies of the Comprehensive Plan and provide clearer
regulations and policies for the City staff to administer within the development code.

The Comprehensive Plan Map includes land use designations establishing the intended urban pattern and the
general use and intensity of development, as well as land use boundaries illustrating the Urban Growth
Boundary (UGB), city limits, and specific area plans. The Comprehensive Plan Map plays a key role in
maintaining and updating the City’s Zoning Map with corresponding land use designations.

The Comprehensive Plan emphasizes the importance of a strong factual basis for all land use decisions (Goal
1, Policy 1.1), with commitments to update the Plan as needed in response to changes in community
demographics, economic conditions, physical landscape, and applicable law (Policy 1.2). This ensures the plan
remains a reliable guide for future growth and policy-making.

Policies also support coordination with community members, businesses, and partner agencies during plan
revisions (Policy 1.3), and ensure the City’s Zoning Map and Development Code are regularly reviewed and
updated to maintain consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and best practices in land use management
(Policies 1.4–1.5).

La Pine’s planning framework incorporates coordination with regional, state, and federal partners and
considers relevant intergovernmental agreements in the administration of land use actions (Policy 1.6),
aligning with Goal 2’s requirement for coordinated planning among jurisdictions.

DRAFT
Exhibit A

12



CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

The Plan also integrates land use goals into broader City decision-making, including budgeting and policy 
development (Policy 1.7), reinforcing the Plan’s central role in shaping growth and investment decisions. La 
Pine’s commitment to small-town character is reflected in policies supporting context-sensitive architectural 
styles and design in new development (Policy 1.8). 

Lastly, the Plan includes a commitment to regularly evaluate the effectiveness of the Downtown Overlay Zone 
(Policy 1.9), showing the City’s intent to continuously refine and adapt its tools to support evolving 
community needs and objectives. 

Based on these policies, La Pine’s 2045 Comprehensive Plan provides a clear, coordinated, and well-informed 
land use planning process consistent with the intent and requirements of Statewide Planning Goal 2. 

• Goal 5: Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open Spaces
To protect natural resources and conserve scenic and historic areas and open spaces.

Response: La Pine’s goals and policies related to Oregon Statewide Planning Goal 5 can be found primarily in
the Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open Space section of the 2045 Comprehensive Plan.
These policies emphasize the protection and enhancement of natural systems, the conservation of open
space, preservation of scenic views, and the acknowledgment and celebration of La Pine’s historic and cultural
resources.

The 2045 Comprehensive Plan includes a comprehensive set of policies that support the protection and
coordination of natural resources and habitat. For example, La Pine coordinates with state and federal
agencies including the Bureau of Land Management (BLM), U.S. Forest Service (USFS), Oregon Department of
Fish and Wildlife (ODFW), and Department of State Lands (DSL) to preserve the natural environment on lands
within the city (Policy 1.1). The City also protects groundwater supply and water quality (Policy 1.2), applies
the Central Oregon Stormwater Manual (Policy 1.3), and maintains a riparian overlay zone along the Little
Deschutes River (Policy 1.6) to preserve ecological habitat, floodplain function, and water quality.

La Pine’s Comprehensive Plan also recognizes the importance of preserving mature tree coverage and
promoting native and drought-tolerant vegetation, which contributes to both ecological value and wildfire
preparedness (Policy 1.8). Development review processes notify relevant agencies when development may
impact sensitive natural features, such as wetlands and waterways (Policy 1.7), ensuring compliance with
applicable state and federal regulations.

Regarding cultural and historical resources, La Pine has established policies to inventory and enhance the
city’s historic and cultural features (Policy 2.1), promote heritage tourism (Policy 2.2), and coordinate with the
State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) in cases of archaeological discovery (Policy 2.4). The City also
supports a historic preservation program and provides baseline protections for sites on the National Register
of Historic Places (Policies 2.3 and 2.5).

The 2045 Plan includes policies to conserve open space, provide public access to scenic areas, and require
that new subdivisions near significant natural features accommodate appropriate access and preserve view
corridors (Policies 3.1–3.4). Furthermore, the Plan supports wildlife habitat conservation and connectivity by
coordinating with agencies to identify and protect migration corridors, integrating wildlife-friendly practices
into parks and trail development, and maintaining up-to-date inventories (Goal 4, Policies 4.1–4.4).

Based on the policies described above, the proposed Comprehensive Plan update is consistent with Statewide
Planning Goal 5 by preserving La Pine’s natural, scenic, and historic resources, enhancing public access to
open space, and promoting responsible development in balance with environmental protection.

DRAFT
Exhibit A

13



CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

The proposed Comprehensive Plan update complies with statewide land use Goal 5. 

• Goal 6: Air, Water, and Land Resources Quality
To maintain and improve the quality of the air, water, and land resources of the state.

Response: La Pine’s goals and policies addressing Statewide Planning Goal 6 are located in the Air, Water, and
Land Resources Quality section of the 2045 Comprehensive Plan. These policies promote protection of the
city’s air and water quality, reduction of pollution sources, and thoughtful coordination with partner agencies
to preserve natural systems.

The City’s updated Comprehensive Plan includes policies that coordinate directly with the Oregon
Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) and Deschutes County to reduce emissions and improve regional
air quality (Policy 1.1). Policies further support compatibility between land uses by requiring buffering and
separation of pollutant-emitting uses from sensitive populations (Policy 1.2), which aligns with Goal 6’s
requirement to prevent the degradation of land and air quality through zoning and site design strategies.

Land use patterns that reduce vehicle miles traveled (VMT) and support alternative modes of transportation
are promoted to help mitigate greenhouse gas emissions and improve air quality (Policy 1.3). The City also
supports innovative site and building designs (Policy 1.4) and provides public education regarding controlled
burning and residential woodstove pollution (Policy 1.5), both of which reinforce the community’s
commitment to reducing airborne pollutants and improving health outcomes.

To protect land resources, the City encourages weed and invasive species control (Policy 1.7) and promotes
dark sky-compliant lighting (Policy 1.6) to minimize the impacts of light pollution on land and wildlife.

For water quality protection, the Plan includes a dedicated goal to protect and enhance La Pine’s groundwater
resources, which are critical to the city’s drinking water supply. La Pine coordinates with the La Pine Water
and Sewer District, Deschutes County, and state and federal agencies to implement water and sewer
expansion strategies that protect groundwater (Policy 2.1), and continues collaboration on the La Pine
National Demonstration Project — a key initiative designed to protect the sub-basin’s water quality while
allowing for planned development (Policy 2.2).

Mitigation actions from the Deschutes County Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan (NHMP) and expansion of well
monitoring are also supported (Policies 2.3 and 2.4), demonstrating the City’s commitment to long-term
water resource security and environmental resilience.

Based on the policies outlined above, the 2045 Comprehensive Plan demonstrates a strong commitment to
protecting La Pine’s air, water, and land resources. The City’s coordination with state and federal regulatory
agencies, implementation of best practices, and public education strategies support compliance with
environmental quality standards. Therefore, the Comprehensive Plan is consistent with Statewide Planning
Goal 6.

• Goal 7: Areas subject to Natural Hazards
To protect people and property from natural hazards.

Response: La Pine’s goals and policies supporting Statewide Planning Goal 7 are outlined in the Natural
Hazards section of the 2045 Comprehensive Plan. These goals are focused on reducing the risk of natural
hazards to people, property, and infrastructure, while enhancing community resilience through coordinated
planning and emergency preparedness.

DRAFT
Exhibit A

14



CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

The updated Comprehensive Plan demonstrates a clear understanding of the risks La Pine faces — including 
wildfire, drought, flooding, winter storms, and high groundwater — and provides a range of policies aimed at 
minimizing these risks. The City coordinates with Deschutes County to regularly update and maintain the 
Natural Hazards Mitigation Plan (NHMP) and implements mitigation actions identified in the plan (Policies 1.1 
and 2.3). 

La Pine also coordinates with federal and state agencies to improve the mapping and understanding of high 
wildfire hazard areas, floodplains, and other areas of concern (Policy 1.2), which supports informed land use 
decision-making and hazard avoidance. The development code is used as a tool to incentivize and regulate 
safe development practices in hazard-prone areas (Policy 1.3), and the City encourages conservation 
easements and dedications to protect the Little Deschutes River floodplain (Policy 1.7). 

To address wildfire risk specifically, the Comprehensive Plan includes policies to convert overhead utility lines 
to underground systems (Policy 1.8), require safe harbor development standards in residential zones (Policy 
1.9), and incorporate water-wise and fire-resistant landscaping and building materials into the code (Policy 
1.10). These efforts align with best practices for reducing the risk of wildfire in urbanizing communities and 
contribute to La Pine’s broader climate resilience. 

The City also supports winter hazard mitigation by improving road de-icing and drainage systems (Policy 1.11) 
and has adopted and implemented relevant portions of the Deschutes County Community Wildfire Protection 
Plan (CWPP), including aspiring to become a Firewise Community (Policies 1.12 and 1.13). 

Emergency preparedness and equitable access to hazard mitigation are emphasized in the Plan. La Pine 
collaborates with key partners such as Deschutes County Emergency Management and the La Pine Rural Fire 
Protection District to prepare emergency plans and improve public education and outreach (Policies 2.1–2.4). 
The Plan also includes strategies for strengthening infrastructure redundancy and coordinating with 
emergency service providers to ensure capacity aligns with future development (Policies 3.1–3.2). 

Finally, the City supports streamlined land use review processes following natural disasters (Policy 3.4) and 
continues to work with federal and local partners on coordinated wildfire mitigation strategies (Policy 3.3). 

Based on the goals and policies outlined above, the 2045 Comprehensive Plan demonstrates a comprehensive 
and proactive approach to hazard mitigation and emergency preparedness. Therefore, the proposed plan is 
consistent with Statewide Planning Goal 7 by reducing vulnerability to natural hazards and enhancing the 
City’s overall resilience. 

• Goal 8: Recreational Needs
To satisfy the recreational needs of the citizens of the state and visitors and, where appropriate, to provide
for the siting of necessary recreational facilities.

Response: La Pine’s goals and policies in support of Statewide Planning Goal 8 are presented in the Parks and
Recreation section of the 2045 Comprehensive Plan. These policies focus on coordination with the La Pine
Park and Recreation District (LPRD), expansion of recreational opportunities, protection of environmentally
sensitive areas, and the integration of parks and trails into broader land use and transportation planning
efforts.

The Plan emphasizes a strong intergovernmental relationship with LPRD to ensure that the community’s
evolving recreational needs are met through regular updates to the District’s Comprehensive Plan and
collaboration on long-range planning (Policy 1.1). Public information, community events, and youth-focused

DRAFT
Exhibit A

15



CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

recreation opportunities are supported through proactive partnerships and outreach (Policies 1.2–1.4). 
Recognizing that access to recreation contributes directly to quality of life, La Pine’s plan includes strategies to 
expand recreational uses on existing public lands and within the floodplain, while maintaining protections for 
sensitive natural resources (Policies 1.5–1.6). These dual objectives align with Goal 8’s emphasis on both 
access and environmental stewardship. 

The Plan also ensures that recreational needs are considered during residential development, requiring the 
inclusion of accessible parks and open spaces in subdivision and master plan processes (Policy 1.7). La Pine 
supports the identification and acquisition of new parkland through its Comprehensive Plan Map (Policy 1.9) 
and coordinates park development with wildlife corridor preservation, wildfire mitigation, and trail 
connectivity (Policies 1.10–1.12). 

To support future growth, the City also prioritizes investment in a multi-use trail system that promotes 
connectivity between neighborhoods, parks, schools, and other destinations (Policy 1.11). This supports a 
more walkable, accessible community while also meeting Goal 8's requirement for siting recreational facilities 
within urban areas. 

Finally, the City acknowledges the need for indoor recreational facilities and outlines a policy to develop a 
feasibility study for a City-owned indoor recreation facility or community swimming pool (Policy 1.14), 
expanding recreational access year-round and to underserved populations. 

Based on the goals and policies described above, La Pine’s 2045 Comprehensive Plan ensures that the City is 
planning for and investing in a comprehensive system of parks and recreational facilities. The Plan promotes 
equitable, environmentally responsible access to recreation and closely coordinates with key partners.  

Therefore, the proposed plan is consistent with Statewide Planning Goal 8. 

• Goal 9: Economic Development
To provide adequate opportunities throughout the state for a variety of economic activities vital to the health,
welfare, and prosperity of Oregon’s citizens.

Response: La Pine’s goals and policies supporting Statewide Planning Goal 9 are located in the Economic
Development section of the 2045 Comprehensive Plan. These policies aim to provide an adequate supply of
employment land, support business retention and attraction, coordinate infrastructure planning with
economic goals, and ensure long-term resilience of the local economy.

The Plan includes a clear strategy for ensuring that sufficient industrial and commercial land is available over
the 20-year planning horizon, in accordance with employment forecasts and growth projections. This includes
regular updates to the City’s economic development strategy and land inventory, including monitoring of
development trends, zoning changes, and mixed-use opportunities (Policies 1.1–1.3).

The City coordinates with local and regional partners — including SLED, EDCO, COIC, and Business Oregon —
to align its economic development efforts with regional and statewide initiatives and funding opportunities
(Policies 1.4 and 2.1). Coordination with capital improvement planning ensures infrastructure can support
future economic development sites, especially for industrial and mixed-use areas (Policy 1.5).

La Pine also identifies and prioritizes prime industrial lands for preservation and development by larger
traded-sector businesses, focusing on sites with strategic access to transportation and utilities (Policy 1.6).
This supports Goal 9’s objective of ensuring a variety of economic activities can thrive in appropriately zoned
and serviced locations.

DRAFT
Exhibit A

16



CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

Policies also encourage infill and redevelopment, particularly in areas where infrastructure already exists, to 
promote efficient land use and support Complete Neighborhoods (Policy 1.7). Housing policies are integrated 
into economic development strategies to ensure a sufficient supply of workforce housing (Policy 1.8), helping 
businesses attract and retain employees. 

To prepare for long-term growth, the City has committed to adopting an urban reserve area and supporting 
amendments to the Comprehensive Plan that allow for large-scale industrial or recreational uses with unique 
site needs (Policies 1.9–1.10). The Plan also includes policies for economic resilience, including wildfire 
preparedness to limit disruptions (Policy 1.11). 

The City will develop a stand-alone Economic Development Strategic Plan that identifies specific actions to 
support entrepreneurship, business incubation, problem-solving, and development of needed infrastructure 
(Policy 2.3). This plan will also address barriers to growth and outline methods for attracting both locally 
serving businesses and larger chains that meet community needs (Policies 2.4 and 2.8). 

La Pine's approach also reflects community values by balancing economic development with small-town 
character (Policy 2.5), maintaining fair and flexible SDC systems (Policy 2.6), and exploring new economic 
opportunities such as a potential regional airport (Policy 2.9). 

Based on the policies described above, the 2045 Comprehensive Plan supports a diverse, resilient, and 
sustainable local economy. The Plan meets the requirements of Statewide Planning Goal 9 by identifying land 
needs, supporting infrastructure planning, partnering with regional economic organizations, and fostering a 
healthy business environment for La Pine’s current and future residents. 

• Goal 10: Housing
To provide for the housing needs of citizens of the state.

Response: La Pine’s goals and policies related to Statewide Planning Goal 10 are presented in the Housing
section of the 2045 Comprehensive Plan. These policies aim to ensure an adequate and diverse supply of
housing to meet the needs of current and future residents, consistent with population growth projections,
infrastructure capacity, and affordability targets.

The City of La Pine is planning for its 20-year housing needs by maintaining an adequate supply of buildable
residential land (Policy 1.1) and aligning this supply with population forecasts and infrastructure planning,
particularly related to water and sewer (Policies 1.3–1.4). Regular housing inventory and analysis efforts
(Policy 1.2) will support long-term strategies responsive to changing demographics, consistent with OAR 660-
008 implementing Goal 10.

The Plan encourages a full range of housing types — including multi-family, single-family, manufactured
homes, cottage housing, ADUs, and transitional housing — and promotes options for renters, seniors, people
with disabilities, and low-income households (Policies 3.3, 3.6, 4.1). The Plan also includes specific policies for
mobile and manufactured home parks, with clear and objective design and density standards (Policies 3.7 and
3.11).

To support affordability, the City commits to identifying and addressing regulatory barriers to both income-
restricted and middle-income housing development (Policy 4.2), and to partnering with entities such as the
Deschutes County Housing Authority and private developers (Policy 4.3). The Plan also encourages use of
federal tools like the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) when appropriate (Policy 4.5).

DRAFT
Exhibit A

17



CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

La Pine’s plan supports mixed-use development and promotes compatibility between residential and 
neighborhood-serving commercial uses (Policies 3.2 and 3.10). It also incorporates wildfire resiliency 
measures into housing design and siting to address local hazard concerns (Policies 1.6 and 3.11), which further 
supports Goal 10 by ensuring the long-term safety and durability of the housing supply. 

Public engagement and demographic analysis are essential elements of La Pine’s housing strategy. The City 
commits to basing its policies on census and other data (Policy 2.1), and to engaging the public in shaping 
future housing strategies (Policy 2.2), consistent with the citizen involvement requirements of Goal 1 and the 
equity objectives of Goal 10. 

The Plan also includes strong policies in support of neighborhood livability and redevelopment. These include 
rehabilitation of aging housing stock (Policy 5.1), thoughtful green space design in new developments (Policy 
6.2), and policies to preserve La Pine’s small-town character while accommodating growth (Policies 3.1 and 
6.3). 

Based on the policies described above, La Pine’s 2045 Comprehensive Plan supports the provision of needed 
housing types for all income levels and aligns with Oregon’s housing production and affordability mandates. 
Therefore, the Comprehensive Plan is consistent with Statewide Planning Goal 10. 

• Goal 11: Public Facilities and Services
To plan and develop a timely, orderly, and efficient arrangement of public facilities and services to serve as a
framework for urban and rural development.

Response: La Pine’s goals and policies related to Statewide Planning Goal 11 are found in the Public Facilities
section of the 2045 Comprehensive Plan. The City is planning for a coordinated and efficient system of
infrastructure and public services that supports existing development while accommodating future growth in
a cost-effective and sustainable manner.

The Comprehensive Plan outlines strategies to construct, operate, and maintain public facilities, including
water, sewer, stormwater, fire protection, and solid waste services (Goal 1, Policies 1.1–1.2). Utility
infrastructure is coordinated with rights-of-way and planned developments (Policy 1.3), and the City supports
the expansion of the La Pine Sewer District to serve densely populated areas (Policy 1.4). Policies also
encourage exploring new technologies and funding strategies to maintain desired service levels without
overburdening residents (Policies 1.5–1.6).

The Plan emphasizes strong inter-agency coordination with service providers and special districts to meet the
needs of the City’s growing population (Goal 2, Policies 2.1–2.3). It includes specific strategies for partnering
with the Bend-La Pine School District, utility providers, and others to ensure reliable, long-term service
provision (Policies 2.4–2.6). The City also evaluates and seeks to lift federal restrictions on public facility lands
to support interim community needs (Policy 2.9).

Resource conservation is a major emphasis. Policies promote sustainable practices in energy, water, and
stormwater systems (Goal 3, Policies 3.1–3.15), including Low Impact Development techniques, beneficial
reuse of treated water, and implementation of energy-resilient infrastructure.

Together, these policies demonstrate that La Pine’s 2045 Comprehensive Plan is consistent with Statewide
Planning Goal 11 by ensuring timely, orderly, and efficient public service provision for current and future
residents.

• Goal 12: Transportation

DRAFT
Exhibit A

18



CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

To provide and encourage a safe, convenient, and financially responsible transportation system. 

Response: La Pine’s policies in support of Statewide Planning Goal 12 are included in the Transportation 
section of the 2045 Comprehensive Plan. These policies reflect the City’s ongoing coordination with Deschutes 
County, ODOT, and regional transportation providers to support a safe, accessible, and multi-modal 
transportation system. 

The Plan is consistent with the Transportation Planning Rule (TPR) (OAR 660-012) and supports the 
implementation of the City’s Transportation System Plan (TSP). It includes strategies for improving safety, 
managing traffic, and ensuring connectivity for all users (Goal 1, Policies 1.1–1.13). Emphasis is placed on high 
accident locations, traffic signal coordination, and multimodal infrastructure for pedestrians, bicycles, freight, 
and transit. 

Goal 2 supports enhanced mobility and connectivity, prioritizing emergency access, alternative modes of 
travel, and equitable service across all neighborhoods (Policies 2.1–2.17). Bicycle and pedestrian facilities are 
required in all new developments and must meet ADA standards. 

The Plan also includes policies for long-term transportation financing and maintenance through alternative 
funding sources and capital improvement planning (Goal 3, Policies 3.1–3.4). Environmental protection and 
energy efficiency are addressed through sustainable design and conservation practices (Goal 4, Policies 4.1–
4.3). 

It should be noted that a majority of the policies are original policies from the 2010 Comprehensive  
Plan, with additional policies included to ensure consistency with the Oregon Statewide Planning Goals. 
Additionally, the city will be updating the Transportation System Plan immediately following the 
Comprehensive Plan update, with subsequent updated goals and policies incorporated into the 
Comprehensive Plan at a later date.  

Based on these provisions, the 2045 Comprehensive Plan is consistent with Statewide Planning Goal 12 by 
supporting a safe, efficient, and well-connected transportation system for all users. 

• Goal 13: Energy Conservation
To conserve energy.

Response: La Pine’s support of Statewide Planning Goal 13 is reflected in the Energy Conservation section of
the 2045 Comprehensive Plan. These policies focus on promoting energy-efficient development, reducing
reliance on nonrenewable energy, and expanding the use of renewable energy sources.

The Plan supports energy conservation through compact, infill development (Policy 1.3), renewable energy
generation (Policy 1.1), and infrastructure such as electric vehicle (EV) charging stations (Policy 1.5). The City
also promotes the development of solar and wind projects, especially on public lands, and seeks to remove
barriers to solar installations (Policies 1.1, 1.6, 1.8).

Policies include leveraging state and federal funding for clean energy incentives (Policy 1.2), and incorporating
energy conservation into City operations through audits and capital projects (Policy 1.10). The City supports
reduced parking requirements and planning fees as tools to encourage clean energy adoption in commercial
development (Policy 1.6).

With these proactive and implementation-focused strategies, the 2045 Comprehensive Plan demonstrates
compliance with Statewide Planning Goal 13 by promoting local energy conservation and the transition to

DRAFT
Exhibit A

19



CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

renewable energy sources. 

• Goal 14: Urbanization
To provide for an orderly and efficient transition from rural to urban land use, to accommodate urban
population and urban employment inside urban growth boundaries, to ensure efficient use of land, and to
provide for livable communities.

Response: La Pine’s compliance with Statewide Planning Goal 14 is addressed in the Urbanization section of
the 2045 Comprehensive Plan. These goals and policies ensure efficient growth within the Urban Growth
Boundary (UGB) and coordinate with state and regional partners to manage growth while preserving livability
and public service efficiency.

The Plan calls for regular evaluation of the city’s 20-year land supply for housing, parks, employment, and
hazard mitigation (Policy 1.1). Efficient infill development is prioritized before considering UGB expansion
(Policy 1.3), and new urban development is contingent on the City’s ability to provide adequate public
facilities (Policy 1.4).

To plan for future needs, the City maintains an Urban Reserve Area (URA) for potential inclusion in the UGB
(Policy 1.2) and supports community-based planning prior to annexation of large parcels (Policy 1.6).
Redevelopment and urbanization are guided by policies promoting energy efficiency and reduced
consumption of nonrenewable resources (Policy 1.7).

The City coordinates closely with Deschutes County, ODOT, and other agencies through the Urban Growth
Management Agreement (UGMA) and interagency planning efforts (Policies 2.2–2.4). The Plan also supports
public master planning efforts for key growth areas like the Newberry Neighborhood and for strategic public
lands such as those intended for rodeo facilities and festivals (Policies 2.5 and 2.7).

Based on these policies, La Pine’s 2045 Comprehensive Plan supports efficient, coordinated urban
development consistent with the intent of Statewide Planning Goal 14.

As the Comprehensive Plan explains, seven other statewide goals were not considered applicable. These goals 
include Goal 3, Agriculture Lands, Goal 4 Forest Lands, Goal 15 Willamette River Greenway, Goal 16 Estuarine 
Resources, Goal 17 Coastal Shorelands, Goal 18 Beaches and Dunes, and Goal 19 Ocean Resources. It is 
acknowledged that La Pine is primarily urban and not located in proximity to the Willamette River, estuaries, 
shorelands, beaches, or the ocean. 

Based on the facts and findings above, the proposed Legislative Amendment complies with applicable Oregon 
Statewide Land Use Planning Goals. 

B. The proposal must be found to:

1. Be in the public interest with regard to community conditions; or

2. Respond to changes in the community; or

3. Correct a mistake or inconsistency in the subject plan or code; and

FINDING: The proposed amendment to the Comprehensive Plan is in the public interest with regard to current 
community conditions. The existing Comprehensive Plan, originally adopted in 2010 following the City’s 
incorporation, is no longer fully reflective of the city’s growth, development patterns, or community priorities. 

DRAFT
Exhibit A

20



CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

Much of the existing plan contains remnant language and policies inherited from Deschutes County, which no 
longer align with La Pine’s needs as an incorporated city with distinct goals, values, and development pressures. 

The updated Comprehensive Plan has been developed through a robust public engagement process, including 
community surveys, workshops, and coordination with local stakeholders. It responds to changes in population, 
housing needs, economic conditions, and infrastructure demands, while establishing a vision that is tailored 
specifically to the City of La Pine. By replacing outdated and misaligned policy language with updated goals that 
reflect the city’s identity and aspirations, the amendment serves the public interest. Criteria met 

C. The amendment must conform to section 15.344.060 [15.334.050], transportation planning rule
compliance; and

FINDING: As detailed in findings further on in this report, the request does not significantly affect a transportation 
facility, and no mitigation is required in accordance with OAR 660-012-0060. Criteria met.  

D. For a quasi-judicial zone change the applicant must also provide evidence substantiating that the
following criteria are met:

1. Approval of the request is consistent with applicable statewide planning goals;

2. Approval of the request is consistent with the relevant policies of the comprehensive plan;

3. Adequate public facilities, services, and transportation networks are in place or are planned to
be provided concurrently with the development of the property;

4. For nonresidential changes, the proposed zone, if it allows uses more intensive than other
zones appropriate for the land use designation, will not allow uses that would destabilize the
land use pattern of the area or significantly adversely affect adjacent properties.

FINDING: The proposal does not include a quasi-judicial zone change, therefore the criteria does not apply. 

Sec. 15.334.050. - Transportation planning rule compliance. 

Proposals to amend the comprehensive plan or zoning map shall be reviewed to determine whether 
they significantly affect a transportation facility pursuant to OAR 660-012-0060 (Transportation 
Planning Rule - TPR). Where the city, in consultation with the applicable roadway authority, finds that 
a proposed amendment would have a significant effect on a transportation facility, the city shall work 
with the roadway authority and applicant to modify the request or mitigate the impacts in accordance 
with the TPR and applicable law. 

FINDING: The proposed amendment has been reviewed for compliance with OAR 660-012-0060 (Transportation 
Planning Rule). Based on the scope and nature of the amendment, and in consultation with the applicable 
roadway authority, the city finds that the proposal does not significantly affect a transportation facility as defined 
in the TPR. The amendment does not significantly affect a transportation facility because it does not: 

• Change the functional classification of an existing or planned transportation facility,
• Change standards implementing a functional classification system,
• Result in types or levels of land uses that would significantly affect the existing or planned transportation

system, or
• Result in a reduction in the performance or safety of the facility below the adopted standards.

DRAFT
Exhibit A

21



CPA-25-0001, La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan 

 
Therefore, no further mitigation is required, and the criteria is met. 

DRAFT
Exhibit A

22



DRAFT - APRIL 2025

Comprehensive Plan

Exhibit B

23



Exhibit B

24



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Acknowledgements

Dwane Krumm

Matt Tarter

Ann Gawith

Cheri Martinen

Kathy DeBone

Riley Scruggs

James Strohschein

Carlos Salcedo

Zavier Borja

Tony DeBone

Dan Robinette

Vicki Russell

Andrea Breault

Erick Holsey

Jamie Donahue

Scott Olszewski

Joe Deluca

Edward Croker

Jim Anderson

Francia Rojas

Geoff Wullschlager, City Manager

Ashley Ivans, Public Works

Erik Huffman, City Engineer

Nicole Mardell, Deschutes County

Angie Brewer, Department of Land 
Conservation and Development

Dan Dugherty, La Pine Rural Fire 
Protection District

Donald Morehouse, Oregon Department 
of Transportation (ODOT)

Karen Miller, La Pine Park and Recreation 
District

Sina Streeter, Midstate Electric Cooperative

STEERING COMMITTEE

TECHNICAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE

PLANNING COMMISSION
Teri Myers, Chair

Jeff Poteet, Vice-Chair

Linda Bauman

Mary Hatfield

Anthony Accinelli

CITY COUNCIL
Jeannine Earls, Mayor

Courtney Ignazzitto, Council President

Janis Curtis-Thompson

Karen Morse

Mike Shields

CITY STAFF
Brent Bybee, Community Development 
Director

CONSULTANT TEAM
3J Consulting

Anais Mathez, Project Manager

Violet Brown, Senior Planner

ECONorthwest 

Beth Goodman, Project Director

Exhibit B

25



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Table of  contents

Letter from the Mayor.............................................................................................................. 2 

Acknowledgements.................................................................................................................. 3

Introduction................................................................................................................................. 5

About La Pine.............................................................................................................................. 10

La Pine 2045 Vision Statement............................................................................................. 23

Goals & Policies........................................................................................................................... 25

Citizen Involvement..........................................................................................................................................................26

Land Use...................................................................................................................................................................................28

Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open Space....................................................31

Air, Water, and Land Resources Quality............................................................................................................35

Economic Development................................................................................................................................................45

Housing.....................................................................................................................................................................................50

Public Facilities....................................................................................................................................................................55

Transportation......................................................................................................................................................................60

Energy Conservation........................................................................................................................................................65

Urbanization..........................................................................................................................................................................68

Exhibit B

26



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

INTRODUCTION

The La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan (the 
“Plan”) serves as the city’s primary land use 
guide, shaping growth and development over 
a 20-year period. Rooted in the community’s 
values, the Plan establishes goals and policies 
that inform decision-making on key issues 
impacting La Pine’s future.

The Comprehensive Plan establishes a policy 
framework rooted in a factual basis that helps 
inform other critical planning documents and 
implementing tools that together serve as a 
coordinated, overarching strategy for the City. 
This approach establishes the structure for how 

the City works and provides services, and the 
types of services that it provides. Ultimately, 
the Comprehensive Plan outlines the direction 
that the City will take when planning for land 
use and informs all of its land use decisions 
and actions, including how land is developed 
and services are provided. It is designed to be 
an inclusive, accessible resource for everyone 
engaged in La Pine’s planning process—
including government agencies, elected 
officials, the Planning Commission, developers, 
neighborhood groups, and community 
members representing diverse interests.

What is a Comprehensive Plan?

La Pine 2045

Exhibit B

27



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Summary of Oregon’s 
Statewide Planning Goals: 
Oregon’s statewide goals are achieved through local comprehensive planning. State law requires 
each city and county to adopt a comprehensive plan and the zoning and land division ordinances 
needed to put the plan into effect.  The local comprehensive plans must be consistent with 
the Statewide Planning Goals. The State’s Land Conservation and Development Commission 
(LCDC) review plans for such consistency.  When the State Department of Land Conservation 
and Development (DLCD) officially approves a local government’s plan, the plan is said to 
be ´acknowledged.   After acknowledgement, the Plan becomes the controlling guide for 
implementing ordinances – the laws that bring the plan to life. Oregon’s planning laws apply 
not only to local governments but also to special districts and state agencies. The laws strongly 
emphasize coordination between such agencies and special districts - keeping plans and 
programs consistent with each other, with the goals, and with acknowledged local plans.  

The following is a summary of the Oregon Statewide Planning Goals that are applicable 
to La Pine:  

GOAL 1 - CITIZEN INVOLVEMENT: Goal 1 
calls for “the opportunity for citizens to be 
involved in all phases of the planning process.” 
It requires each city and county to have a 
citizen involvement program containing 
six components specified in the goal. It 
also requires local governments to have a 
committee for citizen involvement (CCI) to 
monitor and encourage public participation  
in planning. 

GOAL 2 - LAND USE PLANNING: Goal 2 
outlines the basic procedures of Oregon’s 
statewide planning program. It says that land 
use decisions are to be made in accordance 
with a comprehensive plan, and that suitable 
“implementation ordinances” to put the plan’s 
policies into effect must be adopted. It requires 
that plans be based on “factual information”; 
that local plans and ordinances be coordinated 
with those of other jurisdictions and agencies; 
and that plans be reviewed periodically and 
amended as needed. 

GOAL 5 - OPEN SPACES, SCENIC AND 
HISTORIC AREAS AND NATURAL 
RESOURCES: Goal 5 covers more than a dozen 
natural and cultural resources such as wildlife 
habitats and wetlands, and establishes a 
process for each resource to be inventoried and 
evaluated. 

GOAL 6 - AIR, WATER AND LAND 
RESOURCES QUALITY: This goal requires 
local comprehensive plans and implementing 
measures to be consistent with state and 
federal regulations on matters such as 
groundwater pollution. 

GOAL 7 - AREAS SUBJECT TO NATURAL 
DISASTERS AND HAZARDS: Goal 7 deals 
with development in places subject to 
natural hazards such as floods or landslides. It 
requires that jurisdictions apply “appropriate 
safeguards” (floodplain zoning, for example) 
when planning for development there. 

Exhibit B

28



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

GOAL 8 - RECREATION NEEDS: This goal calls 
for each community to evaluate its areas and 
facilities for recreation and develop plans to 
deal with the projected demand for them. 

GOAL 9 - ECONOMY OF THE STATE: Goal 9 
calls for diversification and improvement of 
the economy. It asks communities to inventory 
commercial and industrial lands, project 
future needs for such lands, and plan and zone 
enough land to meet those needs. 

GOAL 10 - HOUSING: This goal specifies that 
each city must plan for and accommodate 
needed housing types, such as multifamily and 
manufactured housing. It requires each city to 
inventory its buildable residential lands, project 
future needs for such lands, and plan and zone 
enough buildable land to meet those needs. It 
also prohibits local plans from discriminating 
against needed housing types. 

GOAL 11 - PUBLIC FACILITIES AND 
SERVICES: Goal 11 calls for efficient planning 
of public services such as sewers, water, law 

enforcement, and fire protection. The goal’s 
central concept is that public services should 
be planned in accordance with a community’s 
needs and capacities rather than be forced to 
respond to development as it occurs. 

GOAL 12 - TRANSPORTATION: The goal aims 
to provide “a safe, convenient, and economic 
transportation system.” It requires communities 
to address the needs of the “transportation 
disadvantaged.” 

GOAL 13 - ENERGY: Goal 13 requires that 
“land and uses developed on the land shall be 
managed and controlled so as to maximize the 
conservation of all forms of energy, based upon 
sound economic principles.” 

GOAL 14 - URBANIZATION: This goal requires 
cities to estimate future growth and needs 
for land and then plan and zone enough land 
to meet those needs. It calls for each city to 
establish an “urban growth boundary” (UGB) to 
“identify and separate urbanizable land from 
rural land.”  

Exhibit B

29



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Using the Comprehensive Plan

CHAPTER STRUCTURE

User Guide

La Pine 2045

Zoning and development code serve as the major 
implementation mechanism of the Comprehensive 
Plan. A key element of the Comprehensive Plan 
is the Comprehensive Plan Map, which spatially 
designates future land uses in a way that best 
implements the goals and policies included in the 
Comprehensive Plan. The Comprehensive Plan 
Map serves as guidance for any updates that are 
made to the City’s Zoning Map.  The Zoning map 
identifies the types, locations, and densities of 
future development or redevelopment and may 
be updated to align with the policy framework 
established in the Comprehensive Plan.

Implementation also occurs through area-
specific and topic-specific plans that guide 
public investments. Area-specific plans focus on 
smaller sections of the city, such as districts or 
neighborhoods. Topic-specific or infrastructure 
plans, such as Transportation, Sanitary Sewer, and 
Water Master Plans, address broader systems and 
services. These plans typically include background 
information, assessments of existing conditions, 
identified system deficiencies, overarching goals, 
potential capital improvement projects, and 
recommendations for policy or code amendments.

All plans must align with the goals of the 
Comprehensive Plan and should not contradict its 
guiding principles. Components of these plans can 
be adopted by ordinance or resolution and may lead 
to updates or amendments to the Comprehensive 
Plan or its implementation tools to ensure they 
remain current over time.

Area and topic-specific plans also shape the work 
of city departments—like Planning and Public 
Works—by informing action plans and guiding 
departmental budgeting decisions.

STATEWIDE 
PLANNING GOAL

GOAL

POLICIES

The following goals and policies 
will guide land use decisions in 
La Pine. Each Statewide Planning 
Goal chapter opens with a short 
summary of the topic, then lists 
a series of goal statements. Each 
goal includes a suite of policies. 

Exhibit B

30



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goals and Policies
The heart of the Comprehensive Plan is the community’s vision for the future. The goals and 
policies are a direct expression of the desires of the community, as captured through the City’s 
community-wide visioning process, La Pine 2045. 

Utilizing the framework of the La Pine 2045 Vision Statement and information from the factual 
base, the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan describe the long-term outcomes and 
direction on how the City will achieve the intended work of the Plan. 

Goals are long-term outcomes the City hopes to achieve by implementing the Comprehensive 
Plan. They are aspirational, expressing community members’ collective desires and values. 

Policies set preferred direction and describe what must be done to achieve these broad goals. 
They are specific enough to help determine whether a proposed project or program would 
advance the values expressed in the goals. 

The Plan’s goals and policies inform critical planning and regulatory documents used by the 
City that guide growth and development in La Pine, specifically the La Pine Development Code. 
Standards in those documents provide the criteria that are used to make land use decisions by 
the City and go a long way toward shaping the character of development. The plan also provides 
key guidance on partnership with neighboring agencies including Deschutes County, the La Pine 
Rural Fire Protection District, and the La Pine School District, to provide key services.

Disclaimer: The Comprehensive Plan is a long-term planning document and its policies should 
not be construed as approval criteria for any site-specific land use application, unless the La Pine 
Development Code specifically requires compliance with the Comprehensive Plan as a required 
review criterion.

La Pine 2045 Vision

Goal

Policy

Goals are long-term outcomes the City hopes to achieve by 
implementing the Comprehensive Plan. 

The Vision provides an aspirational, overarching 
direction and describes a future desired state.

Policies are a clear statement guiding a specific course of action 
for decision-makers to achieve a desired goal.

Exhibit B

31



ABOUT LA PINE

Exhibit B

32



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

La Pine was originally founded in the mid-
1800s and was formally designated as a town 
site around 1900. The history of the original 
settlement was based on the fur trapping 
trade when trappers headed through the 
area from the Willamette and Columbia River 
valleys and followed the Deschutes River.  Here 
they found rich trapping grounds and natural 
resources from which money could be made.  
Prior to settlement and influence from outside 
explorers to the region, the area was historically 
occupied by Native American Indian tribes.  
Much of the settlement of the area, by either 
Native Americans or European settlers, was 
based on the proximity to the natural resources 
of the area – rivers, lakes, forests and what is 
now called the Newberry Crater. 

In the early 1900’s the area became more 
heavily populated due to the logging industry 
and the national demand for timber.  The 
resulting development led to a variety of 
everyday services – banks, school, hardware 
store, livery, newspaper, etc., to support the 
burgeoning population.   

The logging industry and services related 
thereto were aided by the recognition of the 
surrounding natural resources, which made the 
area ripe for tourism even in the early part of 
the 20th century. 

History

Ishmael Logging

Credit: Deschutes 
Historical Museum

Exhibit B

33



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

The past century has seen the development of US Highway 97 
through the community – this has opened up access to the 
area from points north to Washington and south to California.  
Recently though, the areas closest to La Pine have seen growth 
related to the tourism and second home industry – primarily 
in areas outlying what currently comprises the incorporated 
community.  The development and population growth has aided 
the service industry of the area – typical businesses such as retail 
stores and services to the traveling public are common.  After the 
decline of the timber industry over the last 20 years, the area has 
experienced economic stagnation with very few new industries 
locating in the community. 

Over the past 10-15 years, progressive changes have come to La 
Pine.  The City was incorporated by vote in 2006. At incorporation, 
separate Parks and Recreation and Water and Sewer Districts 
were created, of which water and sewer services were later 
transferred to the City. These have brought an increased sense of 
awareness to La Pine as a community that has appropriate public 
facilities and services and is ripe for jobs and housing. 

Future challenges will include increasing economic development 
in the community, job creation and providing additional services 
to meet everyday needs.  Some of these will come naturally 
and will develop according to market demand.  Others will take 
cooperation among agency and community groups.  Increased 
citizen participation in these as well as governmental efforts will 
bring a greater independence and identity to La Pine over the 
next 20-years.

US Highway 97

La Pine Open Space

Exhibit B

34



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

13

Exhibit B

35



WHO WE ARE

Population Growth in La Pine

20102010 1,6531,653

20202020 2,5122,512

WHERE WE LIVE

71.9%
Single Family 
Detached

Middle Housing 
(Plexes, Townhomes)

8.4%

6.9%

Multifamily 
Housing

12.8%Mobile Homes / 
Other

OUR SCHOOLS 40%
58%

La Pine is steadily growing! Population forecasts indicate 
that nearly 2,400 residents will be added to La Pine over 
the next 25 years. The Hispanic/Latino population makes 
up about 16 percent of the total city population. 
Many reside outside of La Pine’s City Limits, with about 
4,250 people living within a two-mile buffer surrounding 
the city. 

57 Percent of La Pine residents 
own their home and 43 percent 
rent. Nearly 56 percent of renter 
households in La Pine are severely 
rent burdened with over 30% of 
their income going towards 
monthly housing costs.The median household income in La Pine is $50,625. This 

is low compared to the neighboring Bend area ($88,516), 
as well as Deschutes County ($82,052).

The Bend-La Pine School District ranks 16 out of 158 Oregon 
School Districts for test proficiency. Math test scores are higher 
than State averages (32%) as well as reading test scores (47%).

WHAT WE EARN

Less than 
$15K

$15K to 
$25K

$25K to 
$50K

$50K to 
$75K

$75K to 
$100K

More than 
$100K

8.1% 13.0% 28.5% 28.3% 10.4% 11.7%

Graduation 
Rate

Math 
Proficiency

Reading 
Proficiency

82%

Where We Are Today
The La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan update will create strategies that will respond to rapid 
regional growth while preserving and improving assets like La Pine’s thriving tourism industry, 
distinct downtown identity, industrial opportunities, affordable housing, and important 
civic amenities. To envision the future of La Pine, this community profile provides a shared 
understanding of La Pine as it exists today.

Exhibit B

36



WHO WE ARE

Population Growth in La Pine

20102010 1,6531,653

20202020 2,5122,512

WHERE WE LIVE

71.9%
Single Family 
Detached

Middle Housing 
(Plexes, Townhomes)

8.4%

6.9%

Multifamily 
Housing

12.8%Mobile Homes / 
Other

OUR SCHOOLS 40%
58%

La Pine is steadily growing! Population forecasts indicate 
that nearly 2,400 residents will be added to La Pine over 
the next 25 years. The Hispanic/Latino population makes 
up about 16 percent of the total city population. 
Many reside outside of La Pine’s City Limits, with about 
4,250 people living within a two-mile buffer surrounding 
the city. 

57 Percent of La Pine residents 
own their home and 43 percent 
rent. Nearly 56 percent of renter 
households in La Pine are severely 
rent burdened with over 30% of 
their income going towards 
monthly housing costs.The median household income in La Pine is $50,625. This 

is low compared to the neighboring Bend area ($88,516), 
as well as Deschutes County ($82,052).

The Bend-La Pine School District ranks 16 out of 158 Oregon 
School Districts for test proficiency. Math test scores are higher 
than State averages (32%) as well as reading test scores (47%).

WHAT WE EARN

Less than 
$15K

$15K to 
$25K

$25K to 
$50K

$50K to 
$75K

$75K to 
$100K

More than 
$100K

8.1% 13.0% 28.5% 28.3% 10.4% 11.7%

Graduation 
Rate

Math 
Proficiency

Reading 
Proficiency

82%

WHERE WE WORK

COMMUTING FLOWS

1,253 Employed in La Pine
953 Workers Living in La Pine

94
Incoming

1,159

Outgoing

859

NATURAL HAZARDS

WHERE WE PLAY 

La Pine hosts a 330 acre industrial and 
business park that is just East of Highway 
97. Target industries for this park include
advanced manufacturing, high 
technology, specialty food and beverage, 
or data and call center operations.
The average commute time for those 
who live in La Pine and work elsewhere 
is 28 minutes.

The La Pine Park and Recreation District 
(LPRD) was established in 1990. The Service 
District manages parks both in and outside 
of City limits. 

SOURCES
U.S. Census Bureau, American Community Survey 2018-2022 5-Year Estimates
U.S. Census Bureau. (2021). LEHD Origin-Destination Employment Statistics https://onthemap.ces.census.gov. 
PSU Coordinated Population Forecast 2022-2047, Deschutes County
Bend-La Pine School District Overview www.publicschoolreview.com
Greater La Pine Community Wildfire Protection Plan, 2020
Sunriver-La Pine Economic Profile, 2023

There are approximately 55 acres of LPRD run 
parks inside of La Pine City limits and about 63 
acres of managed parkland outside of city limits. 

The 2021 Natural Hazard 
Mitigation Plan for 
Deschutes County noted 
that La Pine ranked in 
high probability for 
wildfires, windstorms, and 
winter storms when 
assessed in 2021.

There has been seven major wildfires that have affected the 
greater  La Pine region between 2000 and 2020.  All of these 
large wildfires have threatened residents and prompted 
evacuations within multiple neighborhoods and La Pine State 
Park. The Greater La Pine Community Wildfire Protection Plan 
was created in 2005 and recently updated in 2020, it establishes 
methods to decrease the risks of high-intensity wildfire.

WILDFIRE

Food & Accommodation14%

12% Healthcare & Social Assistance

25% Retail Trade

5% Utilities

5% Agriculture & Forestry

7% Education

Exhibit B

37



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Current Development Patterns
in the City of  La Pine
The City of La Pine has experienced consistent growth since its incorporation in 2006 and was 
identified as the second fastest growing city in the state from 2023-2024, according to the 
Portland State University Population Research Center. Regional growth and rising real estate 
prices have brought increased attention to La Pine. However, as Oregon’s youngest incorporated 
city, La Pine faces unique challenges rooted in historical land use practices, infrastructure 
limitations, and emerging development pressures. The city must creatively navigate a path 
forward that balances growth with preservation.

Existing Land Use and Development Trends
Past land use restrictions, and environmental constraints resulted in lower residential density 
within certain areas of the city. Namely within the residential areas along Cagle Rd, and areas 
within the southeast part of the city that were developed prior to incorporation. Groundwater 
protections effectively limited land divisions that could occur within the area. However, now 
that much of the city is connected to municipal sewer and water services, those restrictions are 
no longer in place. Residential areas along Cagle Road are of primary concern, as ongoing land 
divisions and development are occurring without adequate transportation infrastructure in place. 
This has created a patchwork of development patterns that challenge cohesive infrastructure and 
service delivery.

Exhibit B

38



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

As the Newberry Neighborhood has developed out after being master planned by the county in 
2003, though the overlay standards allow for multifamily development, the neighborhood has 
primarily developed as single-family housing on individual lots. The city and county have recently 
been coordinating on how to update the Newberry Neighborhood Master Plan, and a future 
update will occur to ensure development practices balance all development types into the future, 
which could include mixed use developments.  

Commercial development within the city has historically been located along the US 97 
corridor, creating a linear, auto-oriented commercial strip that serves local and regional traffic. 
Development has started to extend further into the downtown overlay along Huntington 
Rd, adding to the businesses within the downtown center. While many smaller commercial 
properties along Morson Street remain undeveloped, these sites offer opportunities for infill 
and local-serving business growth that supports a more walkable downtown core. There are 
few areas in La Pine that support a mix of residential and commercial uses, which in turn limits 
opportunities for walkability and village-style development.

Industrial uses are generally concentrated in the southern and eastern portions of the city, 
where access to transportation corridors is available and compatibility with residential uses is 
less of a concern.

Despite the level of growth that is occurring within the community, La Pine has a significant 
amount of underutilized and vacant land. The Newberry Neighborhood contains roughly 355 
acres of un-platted residential land. The industrial park also contains large tracts of land available 
for development, including smaller industrially zoned lots within the Newberry Business Park. 

Infrastructure and Constraints
Although the city continues to expand its municipal 
water and sewer services, some properties remain on 
private systems, which can limit the density and type 
of development that can occur. Existing city systems 
have also proven to be outdated in some areas, with 
extensive updates required to the multiple wastewater 
lift stations throughout the city. Development within the 
city is heavily car-dependent, with limited pedestrian and 
bicycle infrastructure outside of the core area. The city’s 
grid network is somewhat fragmented, which affects 
connectivity. Wetlands, floodplains, and other natural 
features constrain development in some areas, requiring 
careful planning to protect environmental resources and 
manage natural hazards. Areas of residential land within 
the southwest portion of town are cutoff from city services 
due to development constraints within identified wetland 
and floodplain areas. 

Exhibit B

39



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Transportation is among the highest concerns identified by La Pine residents. Multiple intersections 
along US 97 present daily hazards and challenges for drivers within the city, and staff aims to fully 
update the 2013 Transportation System Plan to identify solutions to problem areas within the city. 
Currently road ownership within the city is split between city, county, and state jurisdiction. US 
97 is and will continue to remain under the jurisdiction of ODOT. Many of the main higher traffic 
roads within the city are under the jurisdiction of the Deschutes County Road Department. The 
remaining lower traffic roads and local roads are under city jurisdiction. Currently, the city does 
not operate a dedicated road department. As the community grows, La Pine anticipates assuming 
greater responsibility for road maintenance from Deschutes County. Infrastructure expansion and 
coordination with partner agencies will be critical to supporting continued growth.

Emerging Patterns and Pressures
As housing affordability becomes a concern, there is growing demand for townhomes, duplexes, 
and multifamily housing within or near the city core. Data trends show that nearly 56% of renters 
within the community are severely rent burdened, with over 30% of their income going towards 
monthly housing costs. While many residents express a desire for additional single-family 
housing, housing data shows a growing need for diverse housing types to address affordability. 
Balancing community desires with market realities will be a central challenge in shaping La Pine’s 
future land use strategy.

Community feedback and demographic shifts also indicate a desire for more walkable, mixed-
use areas that support a higher quality of life and reduce reliance on cars. Most development has 
been primarily split between traditional commercial and residential, with little incorporation of 
the two. Mixed use developments along the edge of the downtown overlay, and along corridors 
leading from the downtown will provide multimodal connections to amenities and services.

La Pine’s relatively affordable land and proximity to Bend and Sunriver are contributing to regional 
development pressure, making long-range planning increasingly important. As La Pine continues 
to face these development pressures, periodic updates to long range plans, transportation plans, 
and neighborhood master plans will be essential. 

Exhibit B

40



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Plan Update 
Process

Exhibit B

41



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

La Pine 2045 Visioning Process
In late 2023, the City of La Pine undertook a community-
wide visioning process as a precursor to the Comprehensive 
Plan Update process. La Pine 2045 was designed to reach 
all corners of the community and uncover what the 
community values about La Pine today, and what it wishes 
for the future. The outcome was a community-vetted Vision 
Statement to guide the new policy framework of the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan update.

Residents, business, and property owners participated in 
community workshops, stakeholder meetings, and online 
surveys. Activities were promoted through utility bill mailers, 
e-blast promotion, and flyers in key locations around town.

In addition to an online survey that gathered nearly 500 
responses, City staff engaged with La Pine community 
members at a variety of events over the course of Fall 2023. 

These events 
included:

• Music in The Pines

• Harvest Fair

• Trunk or Treat

• Chamber Breakfast

• Rotary Club

• La Pine High School

Community members expressed a variety of priorities and 
desires for the future of La Pine. They cherish its close-
knit community and natural surroundings, yet debate the 
consequences of growth, fearing traffic, loss of character, 
and local businesses. They seek thoughtful development, 
prioritizing improved infrastructure, amenities, and 
support for local businesses. Challenges include strained 
infrastructure, high living costs, and differing views on 
growth strategies. Balancing development with preserving 
La Pine’s identity remains crucial amidst tensions between 
growth advocates and preservationists.

Exhibit B

42



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Consensus and Contentions:
What do you value about La Pine?
The residents of La Pine highly value its close-knit, supportive small-town community 
and the area’s natural beauty, with ample access to outdoor activities. However, 
concerns arise regarding growth and development. While many appreciate the town’s 
charm and want to support local businesses, there is a divide on how expansion should 
be managed. Some fear that growth could lead to increased traffic and the erosion 
of La Pine’s unique character. The community grapples with balancing development 
while preserving its intimate, small-town feel, highlighting the challenges of 
maintaining identity amid change.

What are La Pine’s Disadvantages?
Residents are concerned about the town’s rapid growth, fearing its impact on 
infrastructure, small-town charm, and housing affordability. Economic challenges, 
including high living costs, expensive groceries, and limited job opportunities, are 
also significant issues. Many seek better healthcare, emergency services, and more 
affordable shopping options. A key point of contention is how growth is managed. 
Some feel expansion is poorly planned, leading to increased traffic, inadequate 
infrastructure, and a loss of the town’s unique character. There is an ongoing debate 
between those who support growth and those who want to preserve La Pine’s small-
town feel, highlighting the challenge of balancing development with maintaining 
community identity.

What would improve La Pine?
Residents support thoughtful, balanced growth with infrastructure improvements, 
including better traffic management, road conditions, and safety measures. There is 
a strong desire for enhanced community amenities such as a swimming pool, more 
parks, improved grocery stores, and recreational opportunities. The community values 
its small-town charm and favors development that supports local businesses over large 
chains. Sustainable growth that preserves La Pine’s identity while meeting residents’ 
needs is a key priority. However, the rapid pace of development is a concern, with 
issues such as overcrowding, strained infrastructure, and environmental impacts. 
There is debate over whether to attract larger chain businesses or prioritize local 
establishments. Differing opinions exist on how to balance growth while maintaining 
La Pine’s small-town character, making this a central challenge for the community.

Exhibit B

43



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Upon adoption of the La Pine 2045 Vision 
Statement, the Comprehensive Plan Update 
process engaged the community in scenario 
planning to explore the different ways La Pine 
might grow over the next 20 years. A series 
of two community workshops in Spring and 
Fall 2024 allowed participants to review and 
discuss different scenarios for future growth 
and discuss how planning choices impact 
important community issues like wildfire, 
groundwater quality, park and trail connectivity, 
housing choice, and economic development.

In the first workshop, participants gathered in 
small groups to create maps that responded to 
community priorities established through the 
visioning process. 

Community members experimented with a 
variety of issues including the types of housing 
built in new neighborhoods, where to locate 
new businesses, where to focus redevelopment, 
and where to preserve open space. At the 
second workshop, participants reviewed three 
alternatives developed from the feedback 
gathered in the first workshop. Each alternative 
was evaluated using a set of metrics including 
housing, natural resources, transportation, and 
economic development. The most successful 
elements of each alternative were used to 
update the future land use map and to inform 
implementation through goal and policy 
concepts in the Comprehensive Plan.

Plan Update Process

To guide the Comprehensive Plan Update 
process, the City convened a Steering 
Committee, composed of key stakeholders 
representing diverse community interests and 
interagency partners. The committee played a 
central role in the process and worked closely 
with a Technical Advisory Committee, which 
provided subject matter expertise. These 
committees collaborated to review materials, 
serve as liaisons to various groups, and 
organize outreach events and activities. The 
committees played a vital role in advancing 
community priorities while incorporating input 
from City departments, interagency partners, 
and local representatives to shape policy 
concepts and support future desired land uses.

Advisory Committees

Exhibit B

44



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

23

VISION 
STATEMENT

La Pine 2045

Exhibit B

45



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Vision Statement
INFRASTRUCTURE AND TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT: Invest in 
infrastructure improvements to address concerns about increased 
traffic, ensuring that the town’s roads and services can accommodate 
growth without sacrificing the quality of life for residents. Focus on 
developing efficient transportation solutions, including potential road 
expansions, traffic controls, and pedestrian-friendly pathways.

PRESERVATION OF SMALL-TOWN FEEL: Balance growth with the 
preservation of La Pine’s small-town charm, history, and natural beauty. 
Develop and implement strategies to preserve the small-town charm 
of La Pine while accommodating necessary growth. This may involve 
architectural guidelines, maintaining green spaces, and supporting 
local businesses that contribute to the town’s unique character.

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT: Attract a diverse range of businesses, 
with a focus on affordable grocery stores and restaurants, both local 
enterprises, and larger chains, to meet the community’s needs. 
Develop incentives to attract industrial and commercial uses.

BALANCED GROWTH STRATEGIES: Develop and implement 
growth strategies that prioritize economic development while 
preserving La Pine’s small-town feel and community values, striking 
a balance between progress and maintaining the unique character 
of the town. Strive for managed and balanced growth that considers 
the needs of the community, ensuring that new developments 
enhance the town without overwhelming existing infrastructure.

ENHANCED COMMUNITY SERVICES: Enhance community services, 
including affordable childcare options, improved healthcare facilities, 
and recreational opportunities for residents of all ages. Prioritize the 
development of communal spaces, parks, and facilities that foster a 
sense of community.

Exhibit B

46



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

25

GOALS & 
POLICIES

La Pine 2045

Exhibit B

47



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 1

Citizen Involvement

Overview
Statewide Planning Goal 1: Citizen Involvement requires municipalities to ensure the opportunity 
for the public to have meaningful involvement throughout the land use planning process. Goal 1 
requires municipalities to incorporate six key components in their public involvement program:

1. CITIZEN INVOLVEMENT: An officially
recognized committee for public
involvement broadly representative of
geographic areas and interests related to
land use and land use decisions to provide
for widespread public involvement.

2. Communication: Mechanisms for effective
two-way communication between the
public and elected/appointed officials.

3. Influence: Opportunities for the public to
be involved in all phases of the planning
and decision-making process.

4. Technical Information: Access to technical
information used in the decision-making
process, provided in an accessible and
understandable format.

5. Feedback Mechanisms: Programs to
ensure that members of the public receive
responses from policymakers and that a
written record for land-use decisions is
created and made accessible; and,

6. Financial Support: Adequate resources
allocated for the public involvement
program as an integral component of the
planning budget.

The Planning Commission serves as La Pine’s primary Citizen Involvement Committee (CIC). The 
CIC acts as a liaison between the City Council and the various Advisory Committees and La Pine 
community members. In addition, the following committees that are currently active include: 

• Planning Commission

• Budget Committee

• Urban Renewal Agency Board

• Urban Renewal District Budget Committee

• Public Utility/Infrastructure Committee

Exhibit B

48



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 1: Citizen Involvement
Goal 1: Maintain a comprehensive public information and involvement program 
to promote engagement in land use and transportation-related projects, 
decisions, and initiatives.

Policy 1.1	 Support the Planning Commission as the lead body responsible for facilitating 
community involvement in the land use planning process.

Policy 1.2	 Provide information and public notice to the residents of La Pine regarding land 
use projects and processes in transparent, easy-to-understand formats, including 
multiple languages where appropriate.

Policy 1.3	 Monitor and improve the City’s website to provide consistent public access to 
information, services, news, and databases.

Policy 1.4	 Maintain adequate personnel and budget to support the City’s land use-related 
public involvement program and ensure compliance with all state requirements 
for open meetings and open records.

Policy 1.5	 Establish clear rights and responsibilities of applicants, decision-makers, staff, 
and committees engaged in planning projects, initiatives, and decision-making 
processes.

Policy 1.6	 Establish interbody workshops between the Planning Commission and City 
Council to advise on individual topic areas regarding land use matters.

Goal 2: Ensure inclusive, meaningful, and innovative community participation.

Policy 2.1	 Design public involvement activities in a manner that identifies and addresses 
participatory barriers such as language, time, location, and level of involvement. 

Policy 2.2	 Engage existing community groups and organizations to extend participation and 
engagement. 

Policy 2.3	 Utilize emerging technologies, methods, and techniques to enhance and extend 
public involvement. 

Policy 2.4	 Develop and utilize a consistent set of procedures for the City’s use of social media 
and other communication channels to share information.  

Policy 2.5	 Create opportunities for youth to be engaged in planning projects and decision-
making processes, including youth-focused initiatives and youth representation  
on City committees. 

Policy 2.6 Ensure that citizen engagement methods reflect community values by 
incorporating input on maintaining La Pine’s small-town feel.

Exhibit B

49



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 2

Land Use

Overview
Statewide Planning Goal 2, Land Use Planning, instructs local governments to have and follow a 
comprehensive land use plan and implement the regulations. Comprehensive plans are required 
to comply with the requirements of each of the statewide planning goals. The comprehensive 
plan and zoning ordinances are the guiding documents for all local land use decisions. 

Comprehensive planning in Oregon was mandated by the 1973 Legislature with the adoption 
of Senate Bill 100 (ORS Chapter 197). Under this Act, the Land Conservation and Development 
Commission (LCDC) was created and directed to adopt Statewide Planning Goals and Guidelines. 
These Goals and Guidelines were adopted by LCDC in December 1974 and became effective 
January 1, 1975.

To date, Oregon has adopted nineteen Statewide Planning Goals, and all Oregon cities and 
counties are required to have a Comprehensive Plan that is consistent with these Goals. Each 
Statewide Planning Goal includes a set of guidelines that, in conjunction with community 
priorities, help direct the content within comprehensive plans. Once adopted, all of a City or 
County’s community and area plans, zoning codes, permits, and public improvements are 
required to be consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. This structure ensures that cities 
implement the State’s policy goals first through the comprehensive plan, and then by more 
detailed supporting and implementing documents.

Exhibit B

50



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Comprehensive Plan
The La Pine Comprehensive Plan is the official policy statement of the La Pine City Council. The 
City will interpret the standards and requirements of the text and maps of the Comprehensive 
Plan pursuant to the adopted process. The City will review and update the Development Code to 
ensure it is aligned with the Comprehensive Plan. The City expects to review the Comprehensive 
Plan periodically to ensure the Plan remains a workable framework for development. 

Zoning and Development
La Pine’s Comprehensive Plan includes a Comprehensive Plan Map, which applies broad, 
conceptual land use designations that are further expressed in the City’s zoning map and codified 
in the Development Code. The Zoning Map details zoning districts (also known as “zones”). Zoning 
regulations describe how land will be used for residential, commercial, industrial, or parks/open 
space needs and how the land can be used (also known as “uses”) in a given zone. All these zoning 
regulations are specified in the City’s Development Code, which determines if a use is permitted, 
conditional, or not permitted. La Pine’s land uses are listed below:

• Traditional Commercial

• Mixed Use Commercial

• Neighborhood Commercial

• Commercial/ Residential Mixed Use

• Public Facility

• Industrial

• Mater Plan Residential

• Residential Single- Family

• Residential Multi- Family

• Riparian Area- Little Deschutes River

• Open Spaces & Park

Exhibit B

51



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 2: Land Use
Goal 1: Ensure adequate factual basis for all land use decisions and related 
actions by maintaining a clear process and policy framework for land use 
planning in La Pine.

Policy 1.1	 Update La Pine’s Comprehensive Plan goals and policies to reflect changes in 
the physical landscape, applicable law and policy, community demographics and 
priorities, and economic conditions to ensure accurate and effective guidance for 
future growth.  

Policy 1.2	 Refine Comprehensive Plan policies in future updates based on well-documented 
existing conditions related to La Pine’s economic development, housing, and 
natural resources. 

Policy 1.3	 Effectively engage La Pine community members, businesses, and agency partners 
when revising the City’s goals and policies.

Policy 1.4	 Update as necessary the Zoning Map to ensure continued alignment with the 
Comprehensive Plan goals and policies considering changing future conditions.

Policy 1.5	 Implement best practices in construction and in furtherance of La Pine’s adopted 
goals and policies by regularly reviewing the Development Code and revising as 
necessary.

Policy 1.6	 Ensure that land use and plan administration procedures consider relevant 
agreements with other local jurisdictions and plans by other local jurisdictions, and 
comply with regional, state, and federal plans and regulations.

Policy 1.7	 Include consideration of Comprehensive Plan goals and policies during City Council 
budgeting and policy-making processes. 

Policy 1.8 Ensure new construction reflects architectural styles that maintain La Pine’s 
character and are resilient to natural hazards. 

Policy 1.9	 Periodically review and evaluate the effectiveness of the Downtown Overlay. 

Exhibit B

52



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 5

Natural Resources, Scenic and 
Historic Areas, and Open Space

Overview
Statewide Planning Goal 5: Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open Space is a broad 
statewide planning goal that covers more than a dozen resources, ranging from wildlife habitat to 
historic places. To protect and plan for them, local governments are asked to maintain inventories 
of identified resources in the community. Inventories in a local plan may address only a part of the 
resources included in Goal 5. 

The “Goal 5 Process” starts with an inventory of Goal 5 resources. Resource sites are assessed, and 
significant sites are protected. Rules for some Goal 5 resource categories rely on inventories and 
assessments that have been conducted by state or federal entities. There are six Goal 5 resource 
categories that rely on state or federal inventories: wild and scenic rivers, state scenic water ways, 
ground water resources, Oregon recreation trails, Sage Grouse habitat, and wilderness areas. 

Three categories require local inventories. Initiating an inventory and completing the Goal 5 process 
for and the remaining resource categories is optional. There are separate state rules for each Goal 
5 resource category. Many of the rules have not been revised since 1996 and rely on periodic review 
as a trigger for compliance. Since many jurisdictions no longer need to enter periodic review, many 
local plans and codes are not consistent with the current Goal 5 standards.

All Goal 5 resources were previously inventoried by Deschutes County and State and Federal agencies. 

Exhibit B

53



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Riparian Corridors, Wetlands, and Wildlife Habitat
The City protects riparian corridors and wetlands through zoning ordinance. Protection of these 
areas is also coordinated with state and federal agencies. Most primary wildlife habitat is located 
within the floodplain/riparian corridor along the Little Deschutes River to the west of the city, and 
in large tracts of forested land to the east. These areas provide year-round habitat for big game, 
such as deer and elk, as well as for smaller animals and birds. Various wildlife corridors have been 
identified through La Pine as deer and elk migrate between summer grounds to the west and 
winter grounds to the east. La Pine relies on Deschutes County’s inventory of wildlife native to the 
region, as well as habitat and special protection areas. 

Natural Resources
Historically, the region’s primary natural resource is timber. The forested lands of Lodgepole Pine 
within and around La Pine have provided a timber and tourism economy. The U.S. Forest Service and 
the Bureau of Land Management are responsible for regulating the use of federally owned forest 
lands. The US Forest Service maintains jurisdiction over much of the forested lands surrounding the 
city, such as the Deschutes National Forest. La Pine State Park is also located to the west of the city. 

Scenic resources common to all areas of La Pine are related to the natural environment. This includes 
views of the Three Sisters and surrounding mountains; the Little Deschutes River and associated 
riparian areas; and the surrounding National Forest. There are no canyons, rimrock or other 
significant geologic formations within the urban growth boundary that have been identified for 
scenic protection.

Historic and Cultural Resources
The City’s inventory of historic and cultural resources consists of two properties that have been 
designated as Significant Historic Resources by the Board of County Commissioners (1991). The 
first property is the Pioneer Hall/La Pine Commercial Club/Little Deschutes Grange. This property 
is located at 51518 Morson Street and was established in 1912. The second property is the Improved 
Order of Red Men Cemetery/La Pine Cemetery, located at 17200 Reed Road and established in 1905. 

Article 10 of La Pine’s development code establishes a Historic and Cultural Preservation Program. 
The article lists the applicability for a property to be preserved under the program as well as the 
criteria. It also lists procedures for local establishment, as well as standards for preservation. Lastly, it 
establishes a La Pine Landmarks Commission to review applications and make decisions. If there is 
no Landmarks Commission established, the Planning Commission will take its place. 

Exhibit B

54



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 5: Natural Resources, Scenic and 
Historic Areas, and Open Space
Goal 1: Protect and enhance the function, health and diversity of the City’s 
natural systems.

Policy 1.1	 Coordinate with the agency partners such as the Bureau of Land Management 
(BLM), United States Forest Service (USFS), Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife 
(ODFW) and Department of State Lands (DSL) to preserve the natural environment 
on lands that are within the City.

Policy 1.2	 Protect and maintain the groundwater supply and quality essential to clean water 
and natural vegetation.

Policy 1.3	 Inventory city-wide storm runoff and implement stormwater management 
principles provided in the Central Oregon Stormwater manual.

Policy 1.4	 Support water conservation efforts within the Deschutes Basin to meet current and 
future water needs for La Pine.

Policy 1.5	 Monitor and adopt guidance from FEMA and DLCD to manage development within 
the flood plain and floodways and ensure compliance with FEMA.

Policy 1.6	 Maintain a riparian overlay zone along the Little Deschutes River to protect riparian, 
floodplain and wetland areas as well as important wildlife and ecological habitat.

Policy 1.7	 Notify applicable state and federal natural resource protection agencies, including 
the Department of State Lands (DSL), of development proposals potentially 
impacting important natural features and occurring in an area with wetlands or 
other waters of the state.

Policy 1.8	 Preserve mature and natural tree coverage through development regulations, tree 
inventories and working with partners to plant more drought-tolerant trees and 
mitigate for wildfire preparedness.

Goal 2: Acknowledge, protect, enhance, and commemorate La Pine’s historic and 
cultural resources.

Policy 2.1	 Inventory, preserve, and enhance distinctive historical and cultural features to 
create a sense of place and reflect La Pine’s history and heritage through the public 
realm.

Policy 2.2	 Promote La Pine’s historic and cultural resources through tourism and other 
economic development efforts. 

Policy 2.3	 Provide staffing support for the Planning Commission to implement the City’s 
historic preservation program and establish opportunities to encourage regular 
maintenance, rehabilitation, and restoration of the historic and cultural resources.

Exhibit B

55



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Policy 2.4	 Coordinate with the State Historic Preservation Office to establish a review 
procedure that meets state requirements if archeological sites are identified in the 
City.

Policy 2.5	 Apply baseline protections from demolition or relocation of National Register sites 
and resources, per state requirement.

Goal 3: Conserve open space and protect natural and scenic resources.

Policy 3.1	 Promote the preservation of open space through recreational access that is 
sensitive to the environment.

Policy 3.2	 Connect trail networks beyond City boundaries to link recreational and natural 
areas surrounding La Pine. 

Policy 3.3	 Require subdivision development occurring along major natural and scenic 
resources to provide public access as deemed appropriate.

Policy 3.4	 Incentivize the placement of structures in a way that is sensitive of view corridors to 
maintain the visual character of the area.

Goal 4: Maintain and enhance a diversity of wildlife and habitats. 

Policy 4.1	 Coordinate with agency partners such as ODOT and ODFW to delineate open space 
and trail areas to serve as wildlife migration corridors and crossings.

Policy 4.2	 Balance and integrate the development of parks and trails with the protection of 
habitat and designation of wildlife corridors throughout the City.

Policy 4.3	 Encourage habitat-friendly development practices for developments with 
Regionally Significant Fish and Wildlife Habitats.

Policy 4.4	 Coordinate with Deschutes County and the State of Oregon to ensure Goal 5 
wildlife inventories and habitat protection programs are up to date through public 
processes, expert sources, and current or recently adopted plans and studies.

Exhibit B

56



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 6

Air, Water, and Land 
Resources Quality
Overview
Statewide Planning Goal 6 Air, Water, and Land Resources Quality instructs local governments 
to consider protection of air, water and land resources from pollution and pollutants when 
developing comprehensive plans. The pollutants addressed in Goal 6 include solid waste, water 
waste, noise and thermal pollution, air pollution, and industry-related contaminants. The goal asks 
cities and counties to choose areas suitable for use in controlling pollution. It calls on them to use 
a variety of market, zoning, and management tools in creating these outcomes. 

At a federal level, the elements within Goal 6 correspond broadly to the Clean Air Act and Clean 
Water Act. At a state level, Goal 6 covers many areas regulated by the Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality (DEQ) through its permitting actions. DEQ ensures its permitting decisions 
follow the plan and zoning regulations of the affected local government and coordinates with 
DLCD and other agencies to be sure that city and county plans follow state and federal laws.

Exhibit B

57



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Air Quality 
Air quality within the La Pine area is generally very good except for variable woodstove smoke. La 
Pine is not within an air quality maintenance area as designated by the EPA, as such areas exceed 
established State and Federal air quality standards. Air quality in La Pine can become a concern 
on rare occasions of atmospheric inversion during winter months where smoke from domestic 
wood burning fireplaces and stoves can trap smoke at the surface in a stagnant situation. The City 
intends to improve this situation by exploring incentives and change-out options. The City will 
also implement various techniques to reduce vehicle miles traveled as a method to improve air 
quality. These methods include zoning, urban form, new trail, bicycle, and sidewalk connections. 
Improved conditions for walking and bicycling are companion goals. 

Wildfires can also impact air quality in La Pine during summer months. Due to the frequency of 
wildfires, air quality can reach unhealthy and very unhealthy levels, especially during the months 
of August and September.

Water and Land Resource Quality
Although La Pine has a domestic water system, 
many residences still utilize wells constructed 
prior to the development of the city’s water 
infrastructure system. Some wells are very shallow 
and draw water from an aquifer that is associated 
with evidence of contamination in the recent 
past. Recently, Deschutes County has declared 
groundwater in and around the La Pine area at risk 
for groundwater contamination due to the number 
of nitrates found in samples taken from around the 
region. The cause of this is thought to be the large 
number of on-site septic systems that discharge 
to the ground, in combination with the high-water 
table. Typically, wells from shallow sources have 
shown such evidence of contamination while 
deeper wells have not. Deschutes County worked 
with the US Environmental Protection Agency 
(EPA), the Oregon Department of Environmental 
Quality (DEQ) and the US Geological Survey (USGS) 
to study, map and identify solutions, culminating 
in the La Pine Demonstration Project Report (1999). 
The La Pine Demonstration Project consisted of 
recommendations to protect the La Pine sub-
basin’s water quality. The plan for this project 
began in 2014 and was updated in 2018. 

Exhibit B

58



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 6. Air, Water, and Land Resources 
Quality
Goal 1: Maintain and improve the quality of air and land in La Pine. 

Policy 1.1	 Coordinate with the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) and 
Deschutes County to reduce pollutant emissions and improve regional air quality.

Policy 1.2	 Ensure compatibility between land uses by separating and buffering pollutant-
emitting land uses and sensitive populations through zoning and site design 
requirements like setbacks and landscaping.

Policy 1.3	 Encourage land use and transportation development patterns that reduce vehicle 
miles traveled to improve air quality and reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

Policy 1.4	 Promote innovative site and building designs through development code to reduce 
the adverse impacts of development on environmental quality

Policy 1.5	 Explore local, regional and statewide incentives and educational resources for 
residents regarding controlled burning projects and air quality concerns related to 
residential wood burning fireplaces and stoves.

Policy 1.6	 Encourage lighting design and practices that reduce the negative impacts of light 
pollution through the development of a dark sky ordinance.

Policy 1.7	 Share educational resources with the public to control noxious weeds and invasive 
species. 

Goal 2: Protect and enhance La Pine’s groundwater resources.

Policy 2.1	 Complete sewer and water expansions for new and existing development where 
feasible.

Policy 2.2	 Balance stormwater infrastructure projects with the protection of groundwater 
resources.

Policy 2.3	 Collaborate with regional, state and federal agencies to implement the La Pine 
National Demonstration Project in order to protect the La Pine sub-basin’s water 
quality while allowing planned development to occur.

Policy 2.4	 Implement mitigation measures from the City of La Pine’s Addendum to the 
Deschutes County Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan (NHMP) related to the protection 
of groundwater quality.

Policy 2.5 Expand well monitoring and deepen community wells where needed to ensure 
long-term water security.

Exhibit B

59



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 7

Natural Hazards

Overview
Statewide Planning Goal 7 Areas Subject to Natural Hazards requires comprehensive plans to 
address Oregon’s natural hazards. This includes river and coastal floods, landslides, wildfires, and 
coastal erosion. Additionally, planning for the likelihood of a major earthquake and tsunami from 
the Cascadia Subduction Zone has gained necessary traction recently. Ideally, this form of planning 
looks to avoid the location of essential services like schools, hospitals, fire and police stations away 
from the zones of potential heavy impact. This is addressed through comprehensive planning and 
development code and informed by a natural hazard inventory tailored to the surrounding area.

The 2021 Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan (NHMP) for Deschutes County noted that La Pine ranked 
in high probability for wildfires, windstorms, and winter storms. Winter storms, wildfires, and 
windstorms are the highest threats for the area. While other surrounding regions showed a high 
probability of drought, La Pine contained a moderate probability. This can also be seen for probability 
for flood, as La Pine rated this as a low probability, while other surrounding areas such as Bend and 
Sisters ranked this as a higher probability. In the past, flooding along the Little Deschutes River has 
caused damage where development has been allowed to occur within the established 100-year 
floodplain. However, past controls by Deschutes County over development within the floodplain 
have limited such occurrences. The city has adopted zoning regulations to control and use activities 
in the floodplain and other flood prone areas through the creation of a floodplain overlay zone. 

Exhibit B

60



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Each year, forest fires threat much of Deschutes County. Some are nature-caused (lightning) but 
many are human-caused. The subdivisions scattered throughout timbered areas, particularly in 
the Lodgepole Pine area of southern Deschutes County, pose a significant wildfire threat to the 
City of La Pine.

In 2006, La Pine adopted the greater La Pine Community Wildfire Protection Plan (amended 
in 2020). This plan works to reduce hazardous fuels on both public and private lands, reduce 
structural vulnerability, increase education and awareness of wildfire threat, and to improve 
critical transportation routes. 

In conjunction with this 2025 Comprehensive Plan Update, the City is completing an audit of the 
status for wildfire threat in the community in coordination with the Community Planning Against 
Wildfire (CPAW) program. CPAW will be providing a report detailing recommendations to better 
protect the community from wildfire.

Exhibit B

61



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 7. Natural Hazards
Goal 1: Minimize the risk of natural hazards to people and property.

Policy 1.1	 Coordinate with Deschutes County on regularly updating and maintaining the 
Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan (NHMP).

Policy 1.2	 Coordinate with federal, state, and local partners regarding mapping of high 
wildfire hazard areas, floodplains, and other natural hazard areas within the City and 
lands adjacent to City limits. 

Policy 1.3	 Use the development code to provide incentives and regulations to manage 
development in areas prone to natural hazards. 

Policy 1.4	 Improve existing sewer effluent leach field to mitigate high groundwater concerns. 

Policy 1.5	 Improve water supply and delivery systems to reduce vulnerability to drought 
events by acquiring additional water rights and providing a second water line from 
the city’s reservoir, wells, and pumps.

Policy 1.6	 Investigate and, where feasible, require developers or property owners to utilize 
tools such as conservation easements or dedications to preserve the natural state 
and health of the Little Deschutes River floodplain.

Policy 1.7	 Coordinate with electric utility providers to convert existing overhead lines to 
underground lines to reduce risk from windstorms, winter storms, wildfire, and 
other natural hazards.

Policy 1.8	 Establish safe harbor requirements, such as defensible space, for development in 
the City’s residential zones to reduce wildfire risk.

Policy 1.9	 Implement development ordinance regulations related to wildfire to include 
waterwise and firewire (crossover) landscaping and structure hardening measures. 

Policy 1.10	 Enhance winter hazard mitigation by improving road de-icing and drainage 
solutions during extreme weather events.

Policy 1.11	 Adopt and implement the applicable portions of the Deschutes County Community 
Wildfire Protection Plan, and process updates in coordination with any County 
updates to the plan. 

Policy 1.12	 Adopt standards towards and aspire to become a Firewise Community. 

Exhibit B

62



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 2: Support community-wide hazard preparation for people of all ages, 
abilities, cultures, and incomes. 

Policy 2.1	 Collaborate with appropriate agencies, including the Deschutes County Emergency 
Management and La Pine Rural Fire Protection District to update and implement 
emergency management plans.

Policy 2.2	 Develop an outreach strategy to increase public awareness of the ShakeAlert 
Early Warning System in Deschutes County. 

Policy 2.4	 Expand public information and education for hazard awareness and natural 
disaster preparedness, especially for low-income, elderly, non-English 
speaking, and other vulnerable populations.

Goal 3: Improve coordination with public and private partners in response to 
natural disasters and associated emergencies.

Policy 3.1	 Support plans and programs that increase the quality and redundancy of utility and 
transportation infrastructure to expedite the restoration of critical services following 
a natural hazard event.

Policy 3.2	 Coordinate with emergency service providers when new development is proposed 
to ensure that response capacity can meet the needs of the new development.

Policy 3.3	 Develop a coordinated wildfire mitigation strategy in partnership with Deschutes 
County, La Pine Rural Fire Protection District, the US Forest Service, Oregon 
Department of Forestry, and other relevant agencies.

Policy 3.4	 Expedite the land use review processes for development in areas affected by natural 
disaster, while balancing code requirements related to floodplains and the wildland 
urban interface.

Exhibit B

63



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 8

Parks and Recreation

Overview
Statewide Planning Goal 8: Recreational Needs requires local governments to plan for the 
recreation needs of their residents and visitors. The goal places priority on non-motorized forms of 
recreation, and recreation areas that serve high-density populations with limited transportation 
options and limited financial resources. It also places priority on recreation areas that are free or 
available at a low cost to the public. Local, state, and federal agencies and the private sector must 
coordinate their plans for recreation facilities and activities to protect recreation resources and to 
help nearby communities prepare to meet the demand these recreation destinations place on 
public services and facilities such as roads.

La Pine Park and Recreation District (LPRD) 
The City of La Pines does not have a formal parks and recreation department, although they 
do have a service district that includes recreational lands both inside and outside of city limits. 
The La Pine Park and Recreation District (LPRD) owns approximately 237.40 acres of park and 
undesignated lands. Total parks and undesignated lands owned by LPRD include:

• Kelly Young Memorial Park

• La Pine Community Park

• Frontier Heritage Park

• John. Johnson Building

• La Pine Community Center

• La Pine Event Grounds

• Rosland Campgrounds

• Skate Park

Exhibit B

64



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

LPRD also operates a variety of programs at their facilities for both youth and adults within 
La Pine. Some of these programs include the La Pine After School Program (The HUB) at the 
Community Center, the Sunriver After School Program at Three Rivers School, and youth sports 
such as Karate, Football, and Soccer. Adult activities are hosted at LPRD facilities and include golf 
clinics, ‘Move for the Health of It’, pickleball, the winter walking program, Chair Tai Chi, Aquacise, 
and sightseeing tours in nearby state parks such as the La Pine State Park. 

State Amenities
Although not included within the City limits, the La Pine State Park is a large campground and 
recreation area approximately 5 miles north of La Pine, adjacent to the Deschutes River. The Park 
provides camping (both tent and RV) opportunities as well as access to the River for boating 
and fishing opportunities. Although not within the City of La Pine (access/entrance road is 
approximately 5 miles north of La Pine on US Highway 97), the monument is a large attraction for 
visitors to the region. Thus, it has a great affect of the local tourism economy of La Pine.

Federal Amenities
La Pine is uniquely positioned among vast public lands managed 
by the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) and the Deschutes 
National Forest, making outdoor recreation a central part of the 
community’s identity and appeal. These lands offer residents and 
visitors convenient access to activities such as hiking, camping, 
fishing, hunting, snowmobiling, and ATV use. Public input during 
the comprehensive planning process emphasized the value of 
these opportunities—particularly hunting on BLM lands within 
the city’s eastern boundary. However, urban growth presents new 
considerations, as hunting and firearm discharge within city limits 
are typically incompatible with urban development and restricted 
by state law.

As La Pine continues to evolve, the potential transfer of BLM 
land to the City presents significant opportunities for cohesive 
urban planning. These lands, particularly those adjacent to the 
city’s wastewater treatment facility, could support long-term 
infrastructure needs, including treatment capacity, alternative 
energy production, and industrial infill. While some of these 
lands may serve transitional uses in the near term, they also help 
preserve the rural-urban edge by serving as buffers for wildfire and 
wildlife control. In addition, La Pine benefits economically from 
its proximity to major natural attractions such as the Newberry 
National Volcanic Monument and the Cascade Mountains. 
These regional destinations enhance the city’s role as a gateway 
for outdoor recreation, drawing tourists and reinforcing the 
community’s connection to its natural surroundings.

Newberry National 
Volcanic Monument

Exhibit B

65



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 8. Parks and Recreation
Goal 1. Coordinate with the La Pine Park and Recreation District (LPRD) to 
provide a comprehensive system of parks, trails, and recreation amenities that 
serves current and future needs.

Policy 1.1	 Collaborate with the District on regular updates to the District’s Comprehensive 
Plan.

Policy 1.2	 Establish a comprehensive public relations and information plan about park and 
recreation facilities, opportunities, oversight and management. 

Policy 1.3	 Assist the District in hosting and promoting community events and activities.

Policy 1.4	 Develop partnerships with community and private entities (e.g., community 
alliances, organizations, groups, businesses, and employers) that have an interest 
in providing recreation opportunities to enhance and complement the District’s 
services, with a specific emphasis on youth activities and programming.

Policy 1.5 Study the expansion of recreational uses on currently held public facility properties.

Policy 1.6	 Coordinate with private property owners, local, state, and federal agencies to 
develop recreational opportunities in open space and floodplain areas while 
minimizing impacts to environmentally sensitive natural areas and habitats.

Policy 1.7	 Ensure the Development Code contains provisions that require publicly accessible 
open space and park facilities as a component of residential development and 
Master Plan developments. 

Policy 1.8	 Coordinate with the District on maintenance and ownership responsibility of new 
and existing parks in subdivisons.

Policy 1.9	 Maintain a Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map to identify locations for potential 
future parks, and assist the District in the acquisition of new land for parks.

Policy 1.10	 Coordinate with the District to integrate planning for parks and trails with planning 
for connected wildlife corridors and natural areas through the city.

Policy 1.11	 Establish and maintain a network of multiuse paths to promote connectivity 
between parks, neighborhoods and other local destinations.

Policy 1.12	 Coordinate the design and utilization of new and existing trails and parks to 
mitigate the risk of wildfire and provide alternative evacuation routes in case of an 
emergency. 

Policy 1.13	 Identify and pursue funding mechanisms for acquisition, development, 
maintenance, and operations of facilities in coordination with, and at the initiative 
of, the District.

Policy 1.14	 Develop a feasibility study for constructing an indoor recreation facility and/or 
community swimming pool.

Exhibit B

66



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 9

Economic Development

Overview
La Pine’s economic development planning aligns with Oregon’s Statewide Planning Goal 9, ensuring 
land availability for business and job growth over a 20-year horizon. The City’s policies are shaped by 
regional partners, including Sunriver La Pine Economic Development (SLED), and the 2024–2028 
Central Oregon Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS).

La Pine has approximately 637 acres of vacant commercial, mixed-use, and industrial land, most of 
which is concentrated in the 330-acre industrial and business park east of Highway 97. This park 
benefits from direct access to the BNSF railway and hosts existing industries like wood products 
and construction-related manufacturing. The site is well-equipped with infrastructure such as 
high-speed internet, water, sewer, natural gas, and power.

Exhibit B

67



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Community Assets and Current Conditions

1	  EDCO Economic Profile- La Pine and Sunriver. 2023

2	  U.S. Census OnTheMap, 2021.

La Pine has about 637 acres of vacant commercial, mixed-use, and industrial land. The majority of 
this land is industrial (410 acres), with an additional 164 acres in mixed-use zoning. La Pine has a 
330-acre industrial and business park is located east of Highway 97. This industrial and business
park offers direct access to the BNSF railway. This park can host a variety of industries in advanced
manufacturing, high technology, specialty food and beverage, and data and call center operations1.
La Pine’s industrial and business park has attracted nearly $11.8 million dollars in capital investments
over the last eight years.

La Pine has about 1,253 jobs are located within the city, the nearly half of which are in retail, food 
services, and health care services. Nearly 8% of people employed in La Pine also live in La Pine, with 
about 22% of workers commuting from Bend, 3% from Redmond, and the majority of other workers 
living in other parts of Deschutes County.2 

The largest employers of the La Pine and Sunriver region include the Sunriver Resort, Bend-La Pine 
School District, Sunriver Homeowners Association, and Sunriver Brewing Company. Leisure and 
hospitality are the major economic drivers of this region. Other larger drivers consist of opportunities 
in the trade, transportation, and utilities sectors. According to the ACS 2022 5-year estimate data, 
the unemployment rate in La Pine for the civilian labor force is 5.4 percent, similar to Deschutes 
County average of 5.2% unemployment. The median household income is $50,625, compared to 
Deschutes County median of $80,042.

La Pine’s relatively large supply of industrial land, especially land in the La Pine Industrial Park, 
provides the City with opportunities for industrial growth. The Industrial Park is largely owned by the 
County and managed by the County and City. Existing industrial businesses in La Pine include wood 
products manufacturing, concrete and construction-related businesses, and other manufacturing 
businesses. In addition, La Pine has a number of self-storage businesses. 

The La Pine Industrial park is located within about ½ mile of Highway 97, with BNSF Rail line running 
on the eastern boundary of the Industrial Park. Infrastructure within the Industrial Park includes 
high speed internet, roads, water and sanitary sewer services, natural gas, and electricity.

Exhibit B

68



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

The City is actively working to expand economic opportunities, including the development of two 
business incubators. One public incubator, led by SLED and COIC, will support up to five startups, 
focusing on advanced manufacturing and traded-sector businesses. A private developer is also 
planning a second incubator space and a 7,500-square-foot multi-tenant facility.

Opportunities and Challenges
SLED conducted an analysis of the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats in the Sunriver 
and La Pine region in 2019. The following summarizes key findings from that analysis, as well as 
other sources of information. 

Strengths include: larger supply of buildable land with services; Enterprise Zone incentives; easy 
access to Highway 97; close proximity to the BNSF rail line; access to local and regional workforce; 
access to health services; engaged economic development stakeholders; and improvements within 
the city. 

Weaknesses include: relatively small inventory of commercial and industrial buildings; lack of 
affordable rental housing; relatively low wages; few local attractions or draws for visitors within the 
city; lack of access to capital; need for more economic development assets and marketing; need for 
more child care options and lack of coordinated workforce training. 

Opportunities include: growth of business incubators and new buildings for smaller businesses; 
potential for population growth and access to labor pool from within the region; nearby outdoor 
recreational opportunities; housing prices that are lower than regional averages; access to water; 
and lower cost power and utilities.

Threats include: wildfire danger and other natural hazards; regional competition for workforce; little 
economic diversification; lack of public transportation; and other factors.

The City actively seeks to support and expand its economic base going forward. Implementation 
measures to realize the City’s economic development objectives involve maximizing the available 
inventory and capacity to accommodate current future employment and sustaining a business 
environment that is supportive of the needs of current and future employers.   

Exhibit B

69



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 9: Economic Development
Goal 1: Provide adequate industrial and commercial land inventories to satisfy 
the economic development needs of La Pine for the 20-year planning horizon.

Policy 1.1	 Monitor development of commercial, mixed-use, and industrial land to understand 
when the city may need to consider an urban growth boundary expansion. 

Policy 1.2	 On a regular basis, update analysis of needed industrial and commercial land types, 
existing land supply, and the City’s economic development strategy to ensure that 
the City is providing opportunities for economic growth, business expansion, and 
growth of employment.  

Policy 1.3	 Update the commercial, mixed-use, and industrial land inventories in response to 
redevelopment, proposed zone changes, mixed-use development techniques and 
planned unit developments that enable “Complete Neighborhood” concepts1 and 
economic development opportunities. 

Policy 1.4	 The City’s economic development planning should incorporate information from 
local and regional economic development partners, such as SLED, EDCO, COIC, 
and Business Oregon. Economic development planning should also consider local, 
regional, state, and nationwide trends.   

Policy 1.5	 Coordinate capital improvement planning with economic development planning 
to ensure infrastructure availability to serve industrial sites and mixed-use and 
commercial areas. 

Policy 1.6	 Identify “prime industrial land” for preservation for use by larger traded-sector 
businesses. “Prime industrial land” is land with site characteristics that are difficult 
or impossible to replicate in the city or region, such as relatively flat sites larger than 
10 or 20 acres, with easy access to transportation and infrastructure. 

Policy 1.7	 Encourage infill and redevelopment in the city, where appropriate.

Policy 1.8	 Support development of workforce housing that is affordable to allow people to live 
and work in the city, as a way to attract residents and businesses. 

Policy 1.9	 Adopt urban reserve to project growth beyond the 20-year period and allow for 
long-range economic development planning.

Policy 1.10	 Amend the Comprehensive Plan as needed to support large scale recreational and 
industrial uses, especially uses with special site or locational requirements.  

Policy 1.11	 Incorporate wildfire preparedness practices to limit disruptions to the economy. 

1	  A “Complete Neighborhood” is a neighborhood where people can live and meet their daily 
needs within walking distances. Complete neighborhoods include a variety of housing options, services 
(such as schools, grocery stores, entertainment, and health care), offices, and a range of transportation 
options (such as car, pedestrian, bicycle, and transit).

Exhibit B

70



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 2: Develop an “Economic Development Strategic Plan” and other 
mechanisms necessary for supporting and enhancing the local economy. 

Policy 2.1	 Collaborate with local and regional economic development partners, such as SLED, 
EDCO, COIC, and Business Oregon, to develop an economic development strategic 
plan that best meets the requirements of a growing community.

Policy 2.2	 Support the growth, development, and retention of a diverse mix of industries that 
complement existing strengths and assets in the community, reducing reliance on 
any single sector and diversifying the local economy.

Policy 2.3	 Focus the Economic Development Strategic Plan on actions that support 
entrepreneurship, growth of businesses in the city, and attract businesses to the city. 
The Economic Development Strategic Plan may include actions such as: identifying 
incentives and other approaches to attract and retain businesses; working directly 
with entrepreneurs and business managers to solve problems; developing business 
incubation space; working with landowners and developers to build new buildings; 
and ensuring that the City’s development process is as clear as possible. 

Policy 2.4	 Partner with local businesses to identify and solve problems by identifying and 
lowering barriers to business growth related to City operations and by connecting 
businesses to partners who can help solve other barriers to business growth. 

Policy 2.5	 Ensure a high quality of life and maintain the small-town atmosphere by 
acknowledging and addressing citizen concerns about growth and economic 
development.

Policy 2.6	 Monitor and develop SDC fees carefully to ensure that development pays its own 
way while not creating obstacles to desired development or educational needs. 

Policy 2.7	 Establish good working relationships with the State of Oregon transportation 
system (ODOT) to ensure coordination about transportation challenges and 
adequate capacity on State roadways. 

Policy 2.8	 Work with economic development partners to attract and grow locally serving 
businesses, such as affordable grocery stores with more diverse product 
selection and restaurants, both local enterprises, and larger chains, to meet the 
community’s needs.

Policy 2.9	 Explore efforts to create an airport (privately owned or public), which would be 
a strong economic driver for the La Pine area, without making an airport an 
obligation of the City.

Exhibit B

71



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 10

Housing

Overview
Statewide Planning Goal 10 Housing ensures communities are aiming to provide an adequate 
housing supply that meets the needs of a community and offers people the range of various places to 
live, varying degrees of density, and doesn’t cause an overburden of the financial resources of those 
living there. Cities over a certain population size must conduct a housing needs analysis (HNA) to 
satisfy the requirements of Goal 10. Given that the City of La Pine does not meet DLCD’s population 
threshold for an HNA, the City of La Pine uses data from the 2019 Central Oregon Regional Housing 
Needs Assessment, prepared by the Central Oregon Intergovernmental Council (COIC). 

1	  2022: ACS 5-Year Estimate Data Profile, DP04

Housing Inventory
2022 Census data indicates that 71.9 percent of La Pine residents live in a single-family home 
(detached single unit), which is higher than the State of Oregon (63.0%). Around 7 percent of La 
Pine residents live in middle housing (1 to 4 attached units) and 8.4 percent occupy multi-family 
homes (5 or more attached units). About 10 percent live in a manufactured home, which is higher 
than the State (7.4%). Around 57 percent of La Pine residents are homeowners and 43 percent are 
renters1. 2022 estimates indicated that La Pine contains approximately 1,000 housing units, 31 of 
which are vacant units (3.1%). Most housing in La Pine was built between 2000 and 2009 (27.4%) and 
between 1950 and 1959 (14.3%). 

Exhibit B

72



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Tenancy

2	  2022: ACS 5-Year Estimate Data Profile, DP04

3	  Regional Housing Needs Assessment. 2019. pg 20

4	 Regional Housing Needs Assessment. 2019. pg 104

While there is a higher rate of homeowner occupied housing in La Pine, renter occupied housing is 
at a higher rate when compared to Deschutes County and Oregon.

Housing Attainability and Affordability
According to 2022 census data, most housing in La Pine is valued between $300,000 and $499,999, 
with the median cost at $313,400. The largest amount of rental units cost between $500 to $999 
per month (36.0%) and the second highest range of rent being between 1,000 and 1,499 a month 
(34.1%). Median rent in La Pine is around $1,109 per month2. The Department of Housing and Urban 
Development considers households to be cost burdened if they pay more than 30 percent of their 
income on housing, and severely cost burdened if they pay more than 50 percent of their income 
on housing. According to the 2022 American Community Survey 5-year Estimates, 58.5 percent of 
renters spend 30 percent or more of their household income on gross rent. 

The 2019 Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) notes the shortage of construction workers, 
and increased pay for skilled laborers, has contributed to an increase in construction costs, and 
extended construction times. In areas such as Madras, Culver, and La Pine the lack of construction 
workers, and specialists such as electricians and plumbers, has been a deterrent for new 
construction3. The RHNA consists of a section of interviews on current conditions of housing in local 
areas. Interviews of service workers who live in La Pine expressed how many people live outside 
of city limits in campers with no hookups due to housing affordability issues both within the city 
and across the region. The RHNA also states that 37.5 percent of homeowners are cost burdened, 
and 55.6 percent of renters are cost burdened, which is high for both the state and the region4. A 
household is cost burdened if monthly housing costs exceed 30 percent of monthly household 
income, and severely cost burdened if monthly housing costs exceed more than 50 percent of 
monthly household income. 

The City of La Pine has approved subdivisions in recent years to create more housing. Approved 
subdivisions between 2019 and 2021 include Evans Way Estates (61 lots), Reserve in the Pines (191 
lots), La Pine Landing (10 lots), West Pine Landing (9 lots), and Finley Butte Ranch (89 lots).

Exhibit B

73



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 10: Housing
Goal 1: Ensure La Pine has an adequate supply of developable land to support 
the housing needs based on forecasted population growth over the next 20 years.  

Policy 1.1	 Maintain an adequate supply of buildable residential land for the 20-year planning 
horizon. 

Policy 1.2	 Inventory and analyze the existing housing supply and needed housing types to 
develop strategies for meeting changing demographics.

Policy 1.3	 Coordinate capital improvement plans and funding sources with housing 
development to ensure adequate infrastructure serves all residential land, 
particularly sewer and water as needed to maintain public health.

Policy 1.4 Identify opportunities for public-private development agreements to offset the cost 
of infrastructure development and maintenance.  

Policy 1.5 Monitor high-density housing expansion and ensure balance with single-family 
housing availability.

Policy 1.6	 Incorporate standards for wildfire resiliency to protect the city and limit the 
likelihood of urban fires initiated by wildfires. 

Goal 2: Base housing strategies on careful examination of demographic data, 
trends, and local demands. 

Policy 2.1 	 Utilize Census data as a resource necessary for understanding local and regional 
demographics.	

Policy 2.2	 In accordance with Statewide Planning Goal 1, offer opportunities for public input 
on proposed housing development.

Policy 2.3	 Coordinate housing strategies with measures for economic stability to increase 
resiliency in a fluctuating housing market.

Goal 3: Encourage a wide range of housing types satisfying the urban 
development needs of the La Pine community, including opportunities for mixed-
use development.  

Policy 3.1 	 Maintain the small town feel and preserve the vitality of existing neighborhoods 
through careful and responsive design standards for new and redeveloping 
residential areas. 

Policy 3.2	 Permit small-scale, compatible neighborhood-serving commercial uses within 
residential areas.

Policy 3.3	 Allow for a range of housing types, including housing for renters, the elderly, those 
living with a disability, and low-income members of the community, to be developed 
close to schools, services, parks, shopping, employment centers, and/or transit.

Exhibit B

74



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Policy 3.4	 Ensure that permitted housing types do not conflict with site conditions, including 
slopes, hazard risk, and natural resources. 

Policy 3.5	 Allow for a mix of lot sizes, where appropriate, through flexible Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) ordinances.

Policy 3.6	 Maintain clear and objective development standards and criteria for a range of 
housing types including multi-family, townhouses, cottage/tiny home developments, 
accessory dwelling units, and low-income housing.

Policy 3.7	 Establish clear and objective criteria and standards for the placement and design of 
parks for mobile homes or manufactured dwellings.

Policy 3.8	 Promote safety and inspection requirements for homes not constructed in 
conformance with the National Manufactured Home Construction and Safety 
Standards Act of 1974, in coordination with Deschutes County. 

Policy 3.9	 Support multi-modal access within and adjacent to new and existing neighborhood 
developments.

Policy 3.10	 Apply the same density and design standards of a Multi-Family Residential District 
when multi-family development is permitted in commercial districts. 

Policy 3.11	 Incorporate wildfire protections into the design criteria of manufactured dwelling parks.  

Policy 3.12	 Minimize the impacts of industrial uses near residential development by requiring 
buffering techniques, such as landscaping and setbacks, between residential and 
industrial areas. 

Goal 4: Provide opportunities for the development of housing at prices that meet 
the needs of current and future residents of La Pine. 

Policy 4.1	 Allow for a full range of housing types for all income levels to promote housing 
choice.

Policy 4.2	 Identify regulatory barriers to the development of both income-restricted housing 
and middle-income housing and develop actions to reduce these barriers.

Policy 4.3 Partner with Deschutes County Housing Authority and other non-profit or for-profit 
developers to support development of income-restricted housing near support 
services and/or transit.

Policy 4.4	 Work with agencies and community partners to support temporary shelters or 
transitional housing for people with special needs, including but not limited to, 
households experiencing domestic violence issues, or youth homelessness.

Policy 4.5 Ensure that a variety of housing options for all income levels are available in both 
existing neighborhoods and new residential areas, including the adoption of a Low-
Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) program when appropriate. 

Policy 4.6 Develop strategies to assist in the maintenance and rehabilitation of existing 
housing, including education and information about programs and grant 
opportunities for rehabilitation assistance.

Exhibit B

75



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 5: Promote and protect neighborhood qualities that reflect the small-town 
appeal of La Pine and improve compatibility between various uses.		

Policy 5.1	 Apply design standards to ensure neighborhood uses are compatible and 
consistent with community goals while responding to housing demand.

Policy 5.2	 Require thoughtful planning and design of active green space and play areas in 
new residential developments.

Policy 5.3 	 Encourage development and redevelopment of residential areas to make them 
safe, convenient, and attractive places to live and maintain La Pine’s small-town feel.

Exhibit B

76



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 11

Public Facilities

Overview
Statewide Planning Goal 11 Public Facilities and Services ensures that the public facilities and 
services we rely on are planned into the systems around us. These include water and sewer, police 
and fire, health services, recreation facilities, energy, and communication services. 

Most of La Pine’s public facilities and services are provided by Deschutes County, private 
businesses, or Special Districts, which are government entities formed under and authorized by 
state statute and serve both within and beyond city limits. 

Water 
The La Pine Water District provides water, maintenance, disinfection, and distribution to 
approximately 1,300 customers. The service area includes most, but not all of the area within the 
city limits. The District has recently expanded to include services to the Glenwood Acres Area and 
Cagle Area. 

Exhibit B

77



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Sewer and Stormwater
The City of La Pine provides sewer and water services to more than 1,400 customers. The City 
recently expanded the City’s sewage treatment facility. A goal of the City of La Pine is to have all 
residences within the city eventually connect to the sewer system, including a requirement for all 
new construction to connect to the sewer system. 

The City of La Pine does not have any municipally maintained storm water facilities. Storm runoff, 
including significant snowmelt, is accommodated in roadside drainage ditches. New development 
in La Pine is required to meet all DEQ standards for storm water retention, treatment, and 
dispersal. The development of new, paved streets in new subdivisions are required to install storm 
water retention facilities in the form of drywells that also meet DEQ standards.

La Pine deals with significant groundwater contamination issues.  The primary solution to reducing 
water contamination within the urban area will be the expansion of the sewage treatment facility 
on the city’s east side. The City’s Wastewater Systems Study Update (2016) identifies improvements 
to collection systems and holding tanks to provide more capacity in the wastewater treatment and 
disposal system. The City recently worked with the Bureau of Land Management to acquire land 
for the La Pine Water and Wastewater Expansion Project. 

Health Services 
The City of La Pine is served by a satellite office of the Deschutes County health Department, 
primarily mental health and children’s and community services, as well as a private clinic. In 2024, 
the La Pine Community Health Center expanded its Wellness Center to provide imaging, mental 
health care, dental services, and specialty care.

Emergency Services
The City of La Pine contracts law enforcement with the Deschutes County Sheriff’s Department. 
Fire protection is funded and supplied by the La Pine Fire District. Services are provided to citizens 
throughout the urban area. 

Other Services
Electric power in La Pine is provided by Mid-State Electric Co-op. The City provides access to 
right of way and franchise availability to these service providers. Mid-State utilizes a master 
plan for determining new substation areas and other elements necessary to accommodate 
anticipated growth. 

Natural gas is provided to urban area residents by Cascade Natural Gas. The City provides access 
to right of way and franchise availability for new extensions.

A variety of private wireless phone and internet providers primarily serve the community. Fiber 
optic access is expanding throughout the community and is of particular importance for public, 
commercial, and industrial users. 

Exhibit B

78



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 11: Public Facilities
Goal 1: Seek the most efficient and economic means for constructing, operating, 
and maintaining public facilities and services in La Pine as growth occurs.

Policy 1.1	 Provide fire protection service within the City of La Pine through the La Pine Rural 
Fire Protection District and maintain a high level of public health, safety, and 
community preparedness by monitoring police, fire, and emergency services in 
connection with a growing population. 

Policy 1.2	 Ensure sufficient land for wastewater treatment through careful and efficient 
expansion of public sewer collection, water sources, solid waste disposal as the 
community grows, including expanded or new wastewater treatment plants and 
alternative discharges.

Policy 1.3	 Locate utility lines and facilities on or adjacent to existing public or private rights-of-
way, with approval of other locations if they are part of a planned development or 
master plan.

Policy 1.4	 Consider expansion of the La Pine sewer collection and treatment facilities for 
densely populated areas. 

Policy 1.5	 Periodically study and implement new technologies, services, or amenities that 
positively impact the community, local economy, and City.

Policy 1.6	 Explore new funding strategies as necessary to maintain desired level of public 
services in La Pine, while maintaining affordable rates for consumers and taxpayers. 

Policy 1.7	 Consider wildfire mitigation strategies during the planning, development and 
maintenance of all critical infrastructure.

Goal 2: Coordinate intra-agency efforts, including with private service and 
Special District providers, and ensure an efficient system of public facilities for 
necessary services to meet the projected growth levels for the community.

Policy 2.1	 Ensure effective and long-term public facilities and services are provided to 
maintain a livable community, are administered through City systems when 
economically viable, and do not adversely affect anticipated growth. 

Policy 2.2	 Consider the impact upon public services when considering all land use and 
urbanization decisions with attention to the time required to provide services, 
reliability, cost, level of services, and economic benefit to the community. 

Policy 2.3	 Coordinate with Deschutes County for the provision of certain public services, such 
as emergency services, law enforcement, waste management, and building services, 
until such time as services when feasible can be converted to City jurisdiction.

Policy 2.4	 Allow the use of La Pine right of way (surface, subsurface, and air above) necessary to 
provide public services provided that all applicable rules and regulations are followed 
and the cost of all repairs due to activity or damage is not the City’s responsibility. 	

Exhibit B

79



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Policy 2.5	 Coordinate with the Bend La Pine School District and Central Oregon Community 
College on the impact of new development on the capacity of local school capacity 
and the location for new school facilities, as needed, with expedited land use 
process for development approval associated with the construction of new schools. 

Policy 2.6	 Defer System Development Charges (SDC’s) for any new or expanded school facility 
construction.

Policy 2.7	 Coordinate with Special Districts to fund master planned capital improvements 
through SDC’s. 

Policy 2.8	 Coordinate with the Department of Environmental Quality and other agencies to 
protect, treat, and improve water quality.

Policy 2.9	 Evaluate limitations on public facility lands acquired from the federal government 
at the time of acquisition to ensure the land does not remain vacant and can be 
utilized by the CIty for temporary commercial uses, such as solar production, until 
the land is needed. The City shall continue to coordinate on removing federal 
limitations on existing public facility lands owned by the City. 

Goal 3: Encourage conservation practices for public resources, services, and 
related facilities.

Policy 3.1 Lead by example by adopting and utilizing sustainability practices.

Policy 3.2	 Coordinate with service providers to expand renewable energy and to provide 
redundant infrastructure and service delivery.

Policy 3.3	 Employ conservation practices and other techniques for sustaining limited 
resources, such as clean air and water, energy sources, timber sources, and 
aggregate sources, and facilities. 

Policy 3.4	 Explore alternative energy sources as a complement to existing resources and 
industries and as a way for the City to reach an energy consumption of neutral 
status or better.

Policy 3.5	 Implement strategies for multiple use spaces to reduce vehicle usage at school/
college campuses. 	

Policy 3.6	 Promote water conservation and winter wet/summer dry landscaping and 
vegetation in developments, right of ways, parks, and open lands to promote 
summer water conservation.

Policy 3.7	 To the greatest extent possible, incorporate energy resiliency into system designs to 
maintain adequate levels of service during disruptions.

Policy 3.8	 Identify opportunities for innovative stormwater management techniques and Low-
Impact Development approaches in new growth areas.

Policy 3.9	 Coordinate stormwater system and water conservation efforts by exploring 
opportunities for beneficial reuse of treated stormwater for irrigation.

Policy 3.10	 Encourage property owners through education and programming to reduce or 
mitigate impervious pavement on all properties.

Exhibit B

80



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Policy 3.11	 Require energy-efficient design and energy-conserving features in new 
development, redevelopment, and retrofits.

Policy 3.12	 Update electric vehicle (EV) charging infrastructure, as necessary, to meet growing 
demand.

Policy 3.13 	 Work with regional partners to improve internet connectivity and expand fiber-
optic service.

Policy 3.14 	 Develop a more proactive sewer maintenance and upgrade schedule.

Exhibit B

81



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 12

Transportation

Overview
Statewide Planning Goal 12: Transportation notes that cities and communities rely on access 
to the transportation services they need to commute, obtain goods and services, and maintain 
connections. Public transit, freight delivery, etc. the quality and availability of transportation options 
impacts quality of life, cost of living, and the general flow of goods and services within and beyond 
a local economy. This goal requires cities, counties, and the state to create a transportation system 
plan (TSP) that includes all modes of transportation: transit, air, water, rail, highway, bicycle, and 
pedestrian. The TSP should support many modes to connect the community to the jobs, goods, 
and services they need. The City last completed its TSP in 2009.

Vehicle Transportation
Roadways in La Pine are owned by a mixture of State (ODOT), Deschutes County, City of La Pine, 
Forest Service, and private owners. Highway 97 (Ashton Eaton Boulevard) is maintained by the State 
and is the only ODOT facility within city limits. The County has jurisdiction over the majority of the 
city’s arterial and collector system, and the city’s ownership is limited to the local roadway system. 
Currently U.S. Highway 97 bisects the city, running from North to South. While this highway serves 
as a direct link to different sections of the city, it also can act as a barrier to East and West activities. 

The 2021 Wickiup Junction Refinement Plan focused on strategies to improve circulation and 
vehicular access to the business area east of Highway 97 and proposed additional north-south and 
east-west connections to reduce reliance on Highway 97 for local traffic circulation.

Exhibit B

82



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Multimodal Transportation
Dedicated bicycle facilities are installed along Highway 97 through downtown La Pine in the form 
of buffered bicycle lanes. Other roadways in La Pine contain wide shoulders that can accommodate 
bicyclists (such as Huntington Road), but no other dedicated bicycle facilities exist. An inventory 
of sidewalks from the 2009 Transportation System Plan illustrates that La Pine has few sidewalks 
that are complete, connected, and are located on both sides of the street. The Wickiup Junction 
Refinement Plan proposes creating sidewalks, bike lanes, and pathways that connect people 
walking and riding bikes within the areas adjacent to and crossing Highway 97. It also proposes 
path and trail connections to the regional trails planned by ODOT and the City of La Pine to the 
north and south. 

Transit
La Pine is currently served by Cascades East Transit (Route 30). This route runs from the Wickiup 
Junction Park/Ride at the intersection of Burgess Road and Highway 97 in La Pine to Hawthorne 
Station in Bend. The Wickiup Junction Refinement Plan addresses local access to transit by 
suggesting better access for those walking to the existing Cascades East Transit (CET) park-
n-ride. Bus stops consist of Burgess Road at Wickiup Junction, La Pine Amtrack, and 4th Street 
at Huntington Road. The route is served by three northbound and three southbound buses on 
weekdays, with no weekend service being provided. La Pine is the farthest south that the bus line 
goes. 

Rail Transportation
A Burlington Northern Santa Fe (BNSF) rail line runs through La Pine, mostly on the east side of the 
city. Within Wickiup, the railway crosses Highway 97 just north of Burgess Road with an extreme 
skew angle. A proposal within the Wickiup Junction Refinement Plan includes a realignment of 
Burgess Road, providing more distance between the rail crossing and a future traffic signal at the 
Highway 97 and Burgess Road intersection.   

Exhibit B

83



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 12: Transportation
Goal 1: Create a safe, convenient, balanced, functional, and economical 
transportation system to maximize and extend the life of transportation facilities 
and improve livability throughout the La Pine community.

Policy 1.1	 Promote traffic management to achieve the efficient use of transportation 
infrastructure and design standards that encourage appropriate traffic volumes, 
speeds, and pedestrian safety.

Policy 1.2	 Coordinate land use regulations with analysis of transportation impacts, needs, and 
mitigation options.

Policy 1.3	 Ensure La Pine’s capacity to sufficiently accommodate future travel demand with 
well-connected transportation facilities.

Policy 1.4	 Identify high accident locations and coordinate with appropriate agencies to 
implement specific countermeasures. 

Policy 1.5	 Continuously monitor transportation system issues through comprehensive 
planning and regular analysis, in coordination with Deschutes County and Oregon 
Department of Transportation (ODOT). 

Policy 1.6	 Coordinate with ODOT to ensure traffic signals, crossings, and other Highway 97 
infrastructure balance local and regional needs with an emphasis on safety and 
traffic control.

Policy 1.7	 Utilize transportation demand management (TDM) and transportation system 
management (TSM) techniques as a method of reducing impacts of new projects 
on the transportation system.

Policy 1.8	 Support effective freight transportation consistent with economic policies in La 
Pine, while accounting for and maintaining public safety as an equal priority. 

Policy 1.9	 Facilitate acceptable intersection function, safe and efficient highway crossings, 
and increased connectivity across Hwy 97, including industrial areas to the east.

Policy 1.10	 Ensure that locations of arterials and collectors for future development are feasible 
in the City’s TSP and guide local street development as the City expands.

Policy 1.11	 Coordinate the Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) with ODOT, Deschutes County 
and the La Pine Park and Recreation District.

Policy 1.12	 Identify gateway and beautification treatments for Hwy 97.

Policy 1.13	 Ensure the City’s transportation system meets the minimum safety standards for 
emergency services and evacuation during a disaster event. 

Goal 2: Provide a transportation system in and through La Pine that prioritizes 
mobility, comfort and connectivity for all users.

Policy 2.1	 Improve emergency service response time and evacuation routes through 
connectivity and the safety and accessibility of transit amenities.

Exhibit B

84



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Policy 2.2	 Emphasize local street connections and minimize access along arterials to reduce 
reliance on Hwy 97 for local trips.

Policy 2.3	 Promote a high level of livability by encouraging alternate mode use, such as 
sidewalks, trails, bike lanes and transit amenities, and including street trees, 
pedestrian facilities, separated sidewalks, traffic calming, and other related design 
elements where appropriate.

Policy 2.4	 Collaborate with ODOT to protect the functionality of Hwy 97, while being mindful 
of public safety elements needed within the community.

Policy 2.5	 Balance regional transportation needs with the needs of the local community 
through cooperation with residents, local business interests, state agencies, 
Deschutes County, and special interest groups, including tourism professionals.

Policy 2.6	 Coordinate with regional partners through organizations such as COACT and COCO 
to find solutions to regional transportation issues and to increase opportunities for 
access to transit, park-and-ride lots and ride share, and user-friendly connections 
between transit systems.

Policy 2.7	 Pursue innovative methods for financing increased street maintenance, including 
resurfacing unpaved streets when necessary.

Policy 2.8	 Encourage private efforts to supply forms of inter and intra city transit to the 
commuter.

Policy 2.9	 Cooperate with COIC and Commute Options to provide adequate facilities to allow 
for safe operation of mass transportation vehicles.

Policy 2.10	 Require bicycle and pedestrian facilities as a part of all new collectors and arterials 
and all proposed subdivisions, integrated with other bicycle and pedestrian path 
systems within the City. 

Policy 2.11	 Protect bicycle and pedestrian safety through adequate lighting of paths designed 
for the security of the user, MUTCD features, appropriate paving, and by requiring all 
proposed activity centers to provide safe and convenient off-street bicycle parking 
and routes in designs.

Policy 2.12	 Ensure neighborhoods and activity centers, including public loading and pickup 
areas, are served by safe pedestrian and bicycle routes, specifically between 
residential areas, schools, and public facilities.

Policy 2.13	 Ensure the transportation system provides equitable access to underserved, 
disadvantaged, and vulnerable populations and is easy to use and accommodating 
to travelers of all ages.

Policy 2.14	 Ensure that pedestrian and bike facilities meet ADA requirements.

Policy 2.15	 Develop multi-use walking and biking routes to access employment, schools, 
shopping, and transit routes.

Policy 2.16	 Provide pedestrian facilities that are physically separated from auto traffic on all 
arterial and collector streets.

Policy 2.17 	 Collaborate with regional partners to expand transit routes that improve access 
between La Pine, Bend, and Redmond.

Exhibit B

85



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 3: Develop a sustainable financing method for funding necessary 
transportation system improvements.

Policy 3.1	 Seek alternate funding sources to enable the community to receive grants, 
implement a CIP, and maintain existing infrastructure, such as levies, increased taxes, 
local improvement districts, grants, franchise fees, tax increment financing, bonds, 
and other typical and atypical sources necessary for the full implementation of the 
TSP and maintenance functions.

Policy 3.2	 Optimize the use of existing facilities while planning for future infrastructure.

Policy 3.3	 Maximize the use of state and federal funds for transportation capital, operating, 
and service improvements.

Policy 3.4	 Maintain a capital improvement plan that identifies construction priorities and 
funding for transportation facilities.

Goal 4: Minimize environmental impacts and encourage efficient transportation 
alternatives.

Policy 4.1	 Support the conservation of energy through transportation demand management, 
transportation system management, and support of a multi-modal transportation 
system.

Policy 4.2	 Encourage transportation and infrastructure construction methods that reduce 
environmental impacts.

Policy 4.3	 Ensure landscaping within a right-of-way meets the wildfire protection standards for 
best practices.

Exhibit B

86



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 13

Energy Conservation

Overview
Oregon Statewide Planning Goal 13 directs planning efforts to maximize the conservation of all forms 
of energy, based upon sound economic principles. The goal also encourages land conservation and 
development actions seek to utilize renewable energy sources whenever possible. 

Land use plans should consider measures that will maximize energy efficiency, minimize the 
depletion of non-renewable energy sources, encourage recycling and re-use of vacant land, and 
plan increasing density gradients along high-capacity transportation corridors. Land use plans 
should use techniques that can impact energy efficiency, including lot size, dimension, and siting 
controls; building height bulk and surface area; density of uses; availability of light, wind, and air; 
compatibility of and competition between land use activities; and systems and incentives for the 
collection, re-use, and recycling of metallic and nonmetallic waste. 

In addition to these, the City should consider the existing and potential capacity of renewable energy 
sources to yield useful energy output, such as water, solar, wind, geothermal heat, and municipal, 
forest, and farm waste. 

Exhibit B

87



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Energy Suppliers
La Pine’s industrial areas and key location within Central Oregon will attract businesses seeking to 
develop alternative energy sources. Utilities to serve such uses will need to be coordinated with the 
service providers to ensure capacity availability. Current utilities that serve La Pine consist of Mid-
State Electric Co-operative and Cascade Natural Gas. Mid-State Electric Co-operative connects to 
the Bonneville Power Administration (BPA) and brings low-cost hydroelectric power to La Pine. 

Energy Sources
The City has designated large areas of land for potential solar energy production and biomass 
energy production. La Pine recognizes that the potential for solar production of energy is likely to 
occur on lands that lie east of the Highway since development of these lands for other urban uses 
is constrained by the railroad, sewer expansion, and large lot industrial development.

Existing Development Patterns
The current development pattern of La Pine was primarily established in the 1950s and 1960s. The 
commercial pattern is orientated around Highway 97, while the residential pattern is removed 
from the commercial areas and consists of larger lot neighborhoods. The highway bisects the 
city, resulting in large segments of La Pine’s residential and commercial areas lacking multimodal 
connections and relying on vehicular travel. 

Exhibit B

88



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 13: Energy Conservation
Goal 1: Support energy efficiency and alternative energy production.

Policy 1.1	 Support commercial solar farms and other renewable energy projects on lands 
zoned for Public Facilities through development code and other regulatory tools.

Policy 1.2	 Explore state and federal funding opportunities to establish citywide financial 
incentives for renewable energy sources, like solar and wind, in new or retrofitted 
developments.

Policy 1.3	 Support infill development to prioritize sustainable, compact and efficient use of 
existing land within the urban growth boundary (UGB).

Policy 1.4	 Support economic activity and local job growth to reduce vehicle reliance and 
minimize transportation system impacts on the environment.  

Policy 1.5	 Support development of electric vehicle charging stations and facilities to help 
promote use of electric vehicles.  

Policy 1.6	 Incentivize the utilization of alternative energy sources in commercial development 
through regulatory and administrative tools.

Policy 1.7	 Coordinate with local, regional and state partners to advocate for energy projects 
that may benefit the region and site commercial energy development in La Pine.

Policy 1.8	 Identify and modify barriers in the permitting process to alleviate soft costs related 
to solar installation. 

Policy 1.9	 Provide educational materials for residents and property owners about solar and 
retain a list of solar providers and installers in the community and region.

Policy 1.10	 Continue to incorporate energy conservation into the building and management 
of all City operations and capital projects using regular energy audits to refine  
the results.   

Exhibit B

89



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 14

Urbanization

Overview
Statewide Planning Goal 14: Urbanization ensures every city in Oregon has an urban growth boundary 
(UGB), a tool for managing growth, containing urban development and maintaining land outside 
of the boundary for non-urban uses. The UGB is designated in a city’s comprehensive plan, and 
the boundary is driven by the provision of a twenty-year supply of land for housing, employment, 
industry, open space, and recreation.

In 2012 La Pine adopted its first Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). La Pine’s UGB matches city limits 
given the buildable lands inventory analysis resulting in sufficient land needs for future housing, 
commercial, and industrial needs over a 20-year period. The City’s Zoning and Comprehensive 
Plan map includes land use designations intended to provide an arrangement of uses to ensure 
adequate and efficient provision of public infrastructure for all portions of the city and UGB. 

Although La Pine is not considering an expansion of the UGB and/or City boundary at this time, La 
Pine’s population has steadily been increasing over the last twenty years. According to Portland 
State’s Population Projections for 2023, La Pine is the second fastest growing city in Oregon1. Per 
the Coordinated Population Forecast (2022-2042), the City of La Pine has an average annual growth 
rate of 4.2 percent, larger than other sub areas in Deschutes County. La Pine is projected to reach a 
population of 5,129 people in 2047. 

1	  Portland State University Certified Population Estimates 2023

Exhibit B

90



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Urbanizable Lands within the UGB
As part of the 2045 La Pine Comprehensive Plan update, a buildable lands inventory (BLI) was 
conducted to determine the amount of developable land available within City limits and the Urban 
Growth Boundary. Note that the purpose of this BLI is to conduct scenario-planning for future 
land uses in La Pine, and its methodology is not consistent with that required for a Housing Needs 
Analysis (HNA) or Economic Opportunity Analysis (EOA).

Buildable Vacant Lands
Current buildable land that is vacant in La Pine consists of 2,190 acres. Federal land contains the 
largest amount of non-constrained vacant land, accounting for 34 percent of vacant buildable land. 
Both Deschutes County and the City of La Pine have the second highest rate of buildable lands, with 
each jurisdiction containing 22 percent of buildable vacant lands in La Pine. There are currently 443 
acres of vacant buildable land that are privately owned. 

Buildable Lands
La Pine also contains lands that have redevelopment potential. When considering both vacant land 
and land that can be redeveloped, La Pine contains about 2,508 acres. Approximately 318 acres 
(13.0%) of the 2,508 acres are lands that have the potential for redevelopment. 

Services to Support Urbanization
In addition to the land needed for residential and employment uses, Goal 14 directs cities to consider 
the public facilities and services available to support urban growth. As discussed in previous chapters, 
facilities provided by the City or in close partnership with local providers include: 

• Water – City of La Pine Public Works & Utilities

• Wastewater – City of La Pine Public Works & Utilities

• Stormwater – City of La Pine Public Works & Utilities

• Transportation – City, Cascades East Transit, Deschutes County, and Oregon Department of
Transportation

• Electrical distribution – Midstate Electric Cooperative

• Natural Gas – Northwest Natural Gas

• Emergency Service – Deschutes County Sheriff’s Department and La Pine Fire District

Exhibit B

91



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Goal 14: Urbanization
Goal 1: Promote efficient development within the La Pine Urban Growth 
Boundary (UGB) to accommodate anticipated population and employment 
growth, minimize the cost of providing public services and infrastructure, and 
protect resource land. 

Policy 1.1	 Evaluate and update the City’s 20-year land supply to meet short term and long-
term land needs, including the need for parks, open space, and the impact on 
natural hazard vulnerability, every two years.

Policy 1.2	 Maintain designated Urban Reserve Area (URA) for consideration for inclusion 
within the UGB should land needs be identified that cannot be accommodated 
within the existing UGB.

Policy 1.3	 Facilitate efficient infill development of underutilized land within the UGB 
consistent with La Pine Comprehensive Plan land use designations.

Policy 1.4	 Direct urban growth and land annexation consistent with the City’s ability to 
maintain and extend cost-effective and resilient public services and facilities.

Policy 1.5	 Balance infill and redevelopment with infrastructure costs when considering the 
potential need for land annexation or a UGB expansion.

Policy 1.6	 Require community planning with public engagement on the designation of land 
uses and transportation impacts prior to the annexation of areas with 20 or more 
acres of contiguous land. 

Policy 1.7	 Promote renewable energy and the reduction of nonrenewable resources when 
areas are urbanized or redeveloped.

Goal 2: Coordinate with local, regional, and statewide agencies and partners on 
providing services related to urban growth.

Policy 2.1	 Comprehensive Plan and associated implementation tools, consistent with the 
Oregon Statewide Planning Goals, and applicable state and federal regulations.

Policy 2.2 Pursue cooperative agreements with other governmental agencies to plan, finance, 
or administer the implementation of the Comprehensive Plan related projects.

Policy 2.3	 Work with the State of Oregon to develop strategies that encourage the production 
of housing while balancing the cost of infrastructure.

Policy 2.4	 Coordinate the management of unincorporated lands within the UGB and URA 
through an updated Urban Growth Management Agreement (UGMA). 

Exhibit B

92



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Policy 2.5	 Work with the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) regarding the transfer of land 
to either City of La Pine or Deschutes County for use for rodeo facilities and City 
authorized festivals.  The City desires such land to be included within the City limits, 
with future administration of the lands and facilities used as rodeo grounds to be 
determined by mutual agreement of the City and the La Pine Park and Recreation 
District.

Policy 2.6	 Coordinate with ODOT regarding the ODOT Overpass project and the Wickiup 
Junction interchange regarding land use designations for adjacent lands. 

Policy 2.7	 Support a public engagement plan and master planning effort, at the initiation 
of the County, for the undeveloped lands within the Newberry Neighborhood 
Planning Area Overlay Zone. 

Policy 2.8	 Work with federal land agencies to identify mitigation projects in crucial 
watersheds and participate in local, regional and statewide wildfire coalitions, 
where applicable.

Exhibit B

93



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

72

APPENDIX
La Pine 2045

1. Future Land Use Map

2. Zoning Map

3. List of Supporting Documents

4. Amendment History

Exhibit B

94



97

Natoma Ct

Sutter St

Holgate Ct

Carte
r Ct

St
illw

el
l S

t

Daisy

Pl

Mu
sk

et
Dr

Ca
sc

ad
e 

St

Lasso
Ln

Forest Rd

Mo
un

tai
n P

in
e

St

Tracy Rd

Masten Mill Dr

Cottage Pine St

Barron Dr

Lu
mbe

rm
an

Ln

Cassidy Dr

Betty Dr

Pu
tn

ey
Ln

Se
ttl

er
Dr

5Th St

West Dr

Bl
ue

w
oo

d 
Av

e

Riley Dr

Spring Butte Ln

Wyatt Dr

Ho
m

es
te

ad
 R

d

Hale Rd

Pa
m

 L
n

Tannenhorst Dr

Tr
ap

pe
r G

eo
rge

Ln

Beesley
Pl

Charlotte Day Dr

Apache
Tears

Ct

4Th St

Victory Way

Po
la

r R
d

Half Moon Dr

Sh
ie

ld
s 

Dr

Bitter Brush Rd

Ho
llin

sh
ea

d Pl

2Nd St

Lit
tle

De
sc

hu
te

s L
n

Te
leg

ra
ph

 R
d

Elena Ln Ya
eg

er
 W

ay

Cw Reeves Ln

Ha
llie

 W
ay

Er
lin

g 
Dr

Al
le

n 
Dr

Pine Pl

Caldwell Dr

Evergreen Ln

Ri
le

y 
Ln

Rosland Rd

Willow Ln

Bo
nn

ie
 W

ay

1St St

Golden
Astor Rd

As
h 

Dr

North Dr

South Dr

An
ch

or
 W

ay

Dillon Way

Sa
nt

a 
Ba

rb
ar

a 
Dr

Box Way

Assembly Way

W
al

lin
g 

Ln

El
m

 D
r

M
ur

ry
 D

r

Oa
k 

Dr

Sly Dr

Mo
rn

ing
 Pi

ne
 D

r

W
al

ke
r S

t

Ju
bil

ee
 P

ine
 D

r

Pine Creek Dr

Tim
be

r L
an

e L
oo

p
Ca

mp
fir

e
Dr

Findley Dr

Si
lve

r L
ak

e 
Ln

W
he

el
er

 R
d

Bassett Dr

Heath Dr

Ar
ct

ic 
Dr

W
en

dy
 R

d

Memorial Ln

Co
ac

h 
Rd

Lo
st

 P
on

de
ro

sa
 R

d

Ev
an

s 
W

ay

Ri
ve

r P
in

e 
Rd

Paulina View Rd

Hi
nk

le
 W

ay

Fo
rd

ha
m

 D
r

Preble
W

ay

3Rd St

M
or

so
n 

St

Gl
en

wo
od

 D
r

Br
id

ge
Dr

6Th St

Am
m

on
Rd

Dyke Rd

Leona Ln

Cagle Rd

Ra
ilr

oa
d 

St

Ho
w

ar
d 

Ln

Pe
ng

ra
 S

t

An
tle

r L
n

Do
e 

Ln Sk
id

ge
l R

d

Drafter Rd

Ru
ss

el
l R

d

Cr
es

ce
nt

Cr
ee

k Dr

Reed Rd

William Foss Rd

Pi
ne

 D
r

M
itt

s 
W

ay

M
ea

do
w

 L
n

Finley Butte Rd

Fs
 2

20
5

Burgess Rd

Da
rle

ne
 W

ay

Hu
nt

in
gt

on
 R

d

City Limits

Planning Designations
Mixed Use
Commercial
Industrial
Higher Density Residential
Lower Density Residential
Public Facilities
Parks/Open Space

Network Elements
Roundabout

Trail Network

La Pine 2045 Future
Land Use Map
3J Consulting, March 2025

0 0.25 0.5 0.75 1 Miles

To
Bend

To
Klamath Falls

To
Wickiup
Reservoir

Exhibit B

95



HW
Y 

97
FS

 2205

REED RD

D
AR

LE
N

E 
W

AY

H
U

N
TI

N
G

TO
N

R
D

BURGESS RD

FINLEY BUTTE RD
6TH ST

ROSLAND
RD

PI
N

E
 D

R

DYKE RD

H
O

W
AR

D
 L

N

D
O

E
 L

N

M
E

A
D

O
W

 L
N

LEONA LN

M
IT

TS
 W

AY

3RD ST

CAGLE RD

AN
TL

E
R

 L
N

SK
ID

G
E

L 
R

D

R
U

S
SE

LL
R

D

1ST ST

C
EN

TE
R

 D
R

HALE RD

D
R

AFTE
R

 R
D

WILLIAM FOSS RD

EL
D

E
R

B
E

R
R

Y
 L

N

R
AI

LR
O

A
D

 S
T

M
O

R
S

O
N

 S
T

B
R

ID
G

E
D

R

PE
N

G
R

A 
S

T

H
IN

K
LE

 W
AY

C
O

A
C

H
 R

D

PR
E

B
LE

 W
AY

EV
A

N
S 

W
AY

W
E

N
D

Y
 R

D

SLY DR

AMMON RD

AR
C

TI
C

 D
R

O
A

K 
D

R

EL
M

 D
R

D
EE

R
 F

IE
LD

 D
R

R
IV

E
R

 P
IN

E 
R

D

AS
H

 D
R

G
O

L D

EN ASTOR RD

W
H

E
E

LE
R

 R
D

PAULINA VIEW RD

SOUTH DR

SUTTER ST

RILEY DR

NORTH DR

BOX WAY

W
A

LK
E

R
 S

T

HEATH DR

M
U

R
R

Y 
D

R

DICK RD

FO
RDHAM

DR

2ND ST

LO
S

T 
P

O
N

D
E

R
O

S
A 

R
D

WEST DR

N
EW

B
E

R
R

Y
 R

D

W
A

LL
IN

G
 L

N

SI
LV

E
R

 L
A

K
E

 L
N

JA
CKPIN

E R
D

4TH ST

PINE PL

DILLON WAY

BASSETT DR

ELENA LN

AL
LE

N
 D

R

5TH ST

AN
C

H
O

R
 W

AY

WILLOW LN

B
O

N
N

IE
W

A
Y

STRAWN RD

DAVIS AVE

PO
LA

R
 R

D

FINDLEY DR

MEMORIAL LN

M
O

O
S

E
 R

D

YA
E

G
E

R
 W

AY

ED
E

N
 S

T

EVERGREEN LN

BETTY DR

SA
N

TA
 B

A
R

B
AR

A 
D

R

C
AR

IB
O

U
 R

D

TRACY RD

CASSIDY DR

NATOMA CT

KE
LV

E
L 

C
T

BITTER BRUSH RD

H
U

N
TI

N
G

TO
N

R
D

City of La Pine - Zoning Z

Traditional Commercial

Mixed Use Commercial

Neighborhood Commercial

Commercial / Residential Mixed Use

Public Facility

Industrial

Master Plan Residential

Residential Single-Family

Residential Multi-Family

Riparian Area - Little Deschutes River

Open Space & Park

Exclusive Farm Use

1" = 0.5 Mi.

December 7, 2016

Exhibit B

96



Supporting 
Documents

Exhibit B

97



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Supporting Documents
• 2024-2028 COIC Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy (CEDS)

• 2021 Deschutes County Natural Hazard Mitigation Plan (NHMP)

• 2021 Wickiup Junction Final Refinement Plan

• 2019 COIC Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA)

• 2017 La Pine Recreation District Comprehensive Plan

• 2013 Transportation Systems Plan (TSP)

• 2009 Wastewater Capital Facilities Plan

Exhibit B

98



Amendment Log

Exhibit B

99



CITY OF LA PINE | LA PINE 2045 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Amendment History

ORD.NO. DATE DESCRIPTION

The following table is a log of amendments made to the adopted La Pine 2045 Comprehensive Plan.

Exhibit B

100



1 f 

La Pine 2045 Futtire 
Land Use Map 

�• • 3J Consulting, March 2025 J 

i-. . 
. 
. 
. 

To 
Wickiup 
Reservoir
.,._ i I ------8����- - ., 

""-r-......

\ 
\ 

I 

I 
I 

-+ 
I 

/To 
Klamath Falls

r To 
Bend

.. ·······-···· ...................... . 

I• i 

•-•L•-COQleRd 
I I ' : : 

A :a. '" 
\ 

J 
J 

:,;:.�:::: City Limits 

Planning Designations 
Mixed Use 
Commercial 
Industrial 
Higher Density Residential 
Lower Density Residential 
Public Facilities 
Parks/Open Space 

Network Elements 
O Roundabout 

-; : ": ., - Trail Network 

0.25 0.5 

t1atomaCt 

0.75 1 Miles 

101

Exhibit B


	Blank Page



